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Corporate Information

N REF
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Mr. Sheng Zijiu (resigned on 30 September 2022)
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Corporate Information

NEIER
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Corporate Information
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AT &h
AFEHE
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME G E W ER
STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
2022 & 20214 20204 20194 20184
ARETT ARETIT ARETT ARETIT ARETIT
Revenue & 134,155 165,942 198,478 203,443 172,480
Cost of sales $HE AR AR (137,966)  (126,748)  (124,621)  (136,539)  (127,107)
Gross (loss)/profit E0GB) 7 (3.811) 39,194 73,857 66,904 45,373
(Loss)/profit before income tax KPS &1 Al
(B18) /& F (8,773) 24,080 52,593 49,075 36,090
(Loss)/profit for the year ViNNETE Y N L e
attributable to owners of the A (E18) 5
Company (8,937) 21,182 43,821 41,851 31,550
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT LGS BMRRE
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December
M®12H31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000
2022 & 20214 20204 20194 20184
ARETT AREBEFTIT ARETT AREBETIT AREBTIT
Total assets BEME 354,943 380,215 300,020 234,423 233,139
Total liabilities BEBEE (29,045) (45,509) (77,069) (55,155)  (105,178)
Total equity SR 325,898 334,706 222,951 179,268 127,961

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

BHES IERREZSRAMBHRRN—#D -

EEEZERERAT — S - _—FFHR
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Deyun Holding Ltd. (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
to you the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) (and each being “we"”, “us” or “our
Group” for the purposes of this annual report as appropriate) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”).

BEMBRR :

7K A2 3 Deyun Holding Ltd. (BB 1E R B R A A
(E2rADES((EBN g ((EB8])) A
M ETREEARFRENBAR (FEAE®E])
(BAFHME - SEABRMIKSE@E](HEAH))
HE2022F12A31BLEFE((HREHB) OF
i& o

KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FEMERE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
(Audited) (Audited)
2022 % 20214
(EER) (EE|%)
Revenue (RMB’000) Wz (AREFIT) 134,155 165,942
Gross (loss)/profit (RMB’000) E@E) FARETFT) (3.811) 39,194
(Loss)/profit before income tax (RMB’000) BrFTiSHiAT (B518) 55
(AR¥FT) (8,773) 24,080
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners AR R1#EA ARG FER (E518)
of the Company (RMB’000) wA (AR FIT) (8,937) 21,182
(Loss)/earnings per share g (E18) /&7
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —EAREE(ARES) (0.71) 1.70

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a long-established lace manufacturer and dyeing service
provider. We are primarily engaged in manufacturing and sales
of lace to our customers to produce branded lingerie products on
order-by-order basis. For our dyeing services, our customers are
mainly lace and swim wear manufacturers who would provide us
with their own lace and swimwear fabrics to dye before further
fabrication.

As part of our business diversification strategies, we commenced
our footwear trading business in Hong Kong in the second half of
2021. Revenue from footwear trading business segment increased
significantly during the Reporting Period, which accounted for
approximately 38.2% of the total revenue of the Group (2021:
approximately 9.4%).

*  For identification purpose only
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Chairman’s Statement
FRERE

During the Reporting Period, the PRC experienced several waves of
COVID-19 and the PRC government had to implement lockdown
measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. These lockdown
measures disrupted the supply chain and business activities of
many enterprises in the PRC, including the Group and its business
partners. Our revenue from lace sold and dyeing services and
gross profit margin of these two business segments for the
Reporting Period were adversely affected, but partially offset by the
contribution from our footwear trading business in Hong Kong.

We recorded revenue of approximately RMB134.2 million for the
Reporting Period, representing a decrease of approximately 19.2%
from approximately RMB165.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. Net loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately RMB8.9 million was recorded for the Reporting
Period as compared to the net profit of approximately RMB21.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

OUTLOOK AND BUSINESS STRATEGY

The PRC economy is expected to gradually recover from the
COVID-19. Going forward, we will adopt a prudent approach
to run our existing business operations and also actively identify
potential business opportunities that are in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders. We will continue to enhance our
production efficiency and reduce our operating cost; comply with
environmental protection policies; and strengthen our research and
development capability and quality control.

In view of the growth potential of the business of footwear and
the experience of the management, the Group intended to invest
more resources into this business to strive for more customers and
orders. We believe that these actions will enable us to reduce the
risk of the Group and contribute positively to our Group’s future
earnings and consequentially improve the financial position of our
Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all our colleagues for
their diligence, dedication, loyalty and integrity. | would also like to
thank all our shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and other
business associates for their trust and support.

By order of the Board
Deyun Holding Ltd.
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SR

ERETH

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group derives its revenue from (i) dyeing services; (ii)
manufacturing and sales of lace; and (iii) footwear trading business.
As part of our business diversification strategies, we tapped into
the footwear trading business in Hong Kong in the second half
of 2021 and the revenue from footwear trading business have a
significant growth in the Reporting Period.

Revenue by product types

Breakdown of the Group’s revenue by product types is as follows:

Bt %5 [0 B8

Nz

AREE R WK B () REIRT : (N EBEENMHEE
R(iERE HEH - EREBZ LB — &
2 BAR2021FTHFEEREFTERBES X
% EREZEBRENREPRRABEER -

# o B 5 B 7 19 W 2
ANE B E AR D WA

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HLEE

2022 2021
% of % of
RMB’'000 revenue RMB’'000 revenue
2022 F 20214
AR®T mlE% ARETT U E %
Dyeing prg 56,108 41.8 94,244 56.8
Lace g
— High density —mEE 21,343 15.9 45,097 272
— Regular density —EERE 5,419 4.1 11,064 6.6
Sub-total NE 26,762 20.0 56,161 33.8
Sales of shoes EEHE 51,285 38.2 15,537 9.4
Total Fae 134,155 100.0 165,942 100.0
Revenue by geographical regions R B2 &) 75 1Y W 55
Breakdown of the Group’s revenue by geographical regions is as A& E L& E 5 RSB T
follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HLEE
2022 2021
% of % of
RMB’000 revenue RMB’'000 revenue
2022 & 20214
ARET mlE% ARETT U %
Domestic sales BE:] 81,972 61.1 148,577 89.5
International sales HNEE 52,183 38.9 17,365 10.5
Total @t 134,155 100.0 165,942 100.0

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022



Management Discussion and Analysis

EREIREAN

Dyeing

The Group’s dyeing revenue decreased by approximately 40.5%
from approximately RMB94.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB56.1 million for the
Reporting Period, primarily attributable to the decrease in orders
from customers as a result of the disruption to the supply chain
and business activities of our Group in the PRC, caused by the
lockdown measures in response to the outbreak of several waves
of COVID-19.

Lace

The Group’s lace products are classified into (i) regular density
lace, and (i) high density lace. The lace revenue decreased by
approximately 52.3% from approximately RMB56.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB26.8 million
for the Reporting Period for the reasons mentioned above.

Sales of shoes

The Group commenced a footwear trading business in Hong Kong
in the second half of 2021 and recorded revenue of approximately
RMB51.3 million for the Reporting Period, representing an increase
of approximately 2.3 times from approximately RMB15.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Gross (loss)/profit and gross (loss)/profit
margin

The Group recorded a gross loss of approximately RMB3.8 million
for the Reporting Period as compared to the gross profit of
approximately RMB39.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, primary attributable to (i) the decrease in sales of dyeing
services and lace products; (i) the decrease in price of the dyeing
services due to the fierce competition; and (iii) the increase in cost
of the raw materials.

Other income

Other income increased by approximately 1.8 times from
approximately RMB1.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB5.4 million for the Reporting Period,
primarily attributable to the increase in one-off government grants
in relation to the listing of the shares of the Company.

RE

AEBMEAZBRGZAEE2021F12A31BIEF
EAARBIM2EBETRE L 440.5% 2 HE B
ARSI EEL  TEHN AEECOVID-19
AR REMERMETEEBE RN EBIEREDY
S N SR ER T8 M ERPETER D

YCE:

AEEWCEERD AMALE BI() ERHEILE
FiyaEEXE AREMRRRA  EEREHE
E201F12A3MBALEFENARKES2EE T
WA 4)523% BREHBOARE268FHET »

BEEHEE

REBR 20 FTHFEELBHRERE HET
RIFEHHESEBRANARESI3EE L &#
Z2021F1N2A3MALEFEHNARKISSEETT
HANH2 365 o

(£8]) " EFR(ER) EF=

AEBRFEHHGESEEOARKISEE L
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MASHE R () BB B E BRI ER T
R (i) R A4 R AN 52 0 o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREIREAN

Other gains/(losses), net

Other gains, net for the Reporting Period of approximately RMB4.2
million mainly represented differences arising from translation of
the Group’s sales, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies. Other losses, net for the year ended 31 December 2021
of approximately RMB3.7 million mainly represented losses on
disposal of properties, plant and equipment.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of packaging
expenses and staff cost in relation to sales and marketing staff.
Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
31.2% from approximately RMB2.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB1.7 million for the Reporting
Period, primarily attributable to the decrease in packaging
expenses, which was in line with the decrease in sales of lace
products and dyeing services.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 39.2% from
approximately RMB10.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB14.4 million for the Reporting Period
mainly due to the employment of more staff in Hong Kong by the
Group to manage its footwear trading business.

Finance income, net

Net finance income increased from approximately RMB1.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB2.3
million for the Reporting Period, primarily attributable to the
increase in interest income on bank balances.

Income tax expenses

Fujian Deyun Technology Co., Ltd.* (B EEER AR A
Al) (the “Deyun Technology”), which engaged in dyeing and
lace business of the Group, is recognised as a High and New
Technology Enterprise* (/& #7 £ fif 1 2%) and therefore entitled
to a preferential tax rate of 15% for the year ended 31 December
2021 and for the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period,
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 8.25%
to 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits. The income tax
expense decreased from approximately RMB2.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMBO0.2 million
for the Reporting Period, which was mainly due to the loss-making
position of the PRC business for the Reporting Period.

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI 1 R I

Net (loss)/profit for the year

As a result of the above factors, the Group recorded a net loss
of approximately RMB8.9 million for the Reporting Period as
compared to the net profit of approximately RMB21.2 million for
year ended 31 December 2021.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the
Reporting Period (2021: nil).

LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING

Net current assets

The Group had net current assets of approximately RMB181.7
million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately RMB177.3
million). The current ratio of the Group increased from
approximately 5.1 times as at 31 December 2021 to approximately
7.7 times as at 31 December 2022. The increase in net current
assets and improvement of current ratio as at 31 December
2022 was primarily attributable to the increase in cash and cash
equivalents and settlement of the payables for the purchase of
equipment during the Reporting Period.

Cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and
pledge of assets

The Group funds its business and working capital requirements
by using a balanced mix of internal resources, borrowings and
funds from listing. The Group will adjust its mix of funding mix
depending on the costs of funding and its actual needs.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB187.9 million (2021: approximately
RMB182.3 million) and they were denominated in RMB, USD and
HKD.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no bank
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no undrawn
banking facilities.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any
assets pledged as securities.

FRF(ER)FE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREIREAN

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had a gearing ratio
of nil, calculated by dividing total debt by total equity.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2022, the Company'’s issued share capital was
HKD 12,600,000 and the number of issued shares of the Company
was 1,260,000,000 ordinary shares of HKD0.01 each.

Capital expenditure

For the Reporting Period, the Group incurred cash flows on
capital expenditures for the purchase of properties, plant and
equipment in the amount of approximately RMB10.6 million (2021:
approximately RMB35.2million).

Foreign exchange risks and hedging

The majority of assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated
in RMB, USD and HKD, and there are no significant assets and
liabilities denominated in other currencies. The Group is subject
to foreign exchange rate risk arising from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities which are
denominated in a currency other than the respective functional
currencies of the Group's entities. During the Reporting Period,
the Group did not hedge its foreign currency exposure. The Group
regularly monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitments
of approximately RMBO0.4 million in relation to the purchase of
properties, plant and equipment (2021: approximately RMBO0.2
million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2021: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREIREAN

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group's employees are generally remunerated by way of
fixed salary and they may also be entitled to a number of welfare
benefits, including but not limited to job-nature based subsidy,
performance-based bonus, paid leave and share options. The
Group also make contributions to mandatory social security
funds for its employees. The Group utilises an appraisal system
for its employees and considers the appraisal results of individual
employees when conducting their salary review and determining
the amount of bonuses. To enhance the performance of the
employees, the Group provides its employees with adequate and
regular trainings.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 362 employees (2021:
495 employees) and the Group’s total employee benefit expenses
(including directors’” emoluments) for the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately RMB32.4 million (2021: approximately
RMB37.1 million).

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are required to participate in a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government (the “Retirement
Benefit Scheme”). The Group is required to contribute a certain
percentage of basic payroll costs to the Retirement Benefit Scheme.

The Group joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates
specified in the rules.

The Group’s contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme and
the MPF Scheme (the “Defined Contribution Schemes”) vest
fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i) for the
Reporting Period, there was no forfeiture of contributions under
the Defined Contribution Scheme; and (ii) there were no forfeited
contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing level
of contributions to the Defined Contribution Scheme as at 31
December 2022. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the Defined
Contribution Scheme.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI R

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions and disposals during the
Reporting Period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MAJOR INVESTMENT

During the Reporting Period, save for the expansion plans as
disclosed in the sections headed “Business” and “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 28
December 2020 (the “Prospectus”), the Group had no specific
plan for major investment or acquisition for major capital assets or
other businesses. However, the Group will continue to identify new
opportunities for business development.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

Net proceeds from the initial public offering (the “IPO"), after
deducting underwriting commissions and other relevant expenses,
amounted to approximately HKD85.6 million. As at 31 December
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2022, the net proceeds from the IPO had been applied as follows: BFBEEETINHARBA
Net proceeds Unused Timeframe
Planned used as at balance as at for the
use of 31 December 31 December unused
Planned use of net proceeds net proceeds 2022 2022 balance
B220F
128318 BZ20F
FERERE BEA 128318 RBRLL
FEREREHERE ZiERReE FERERE RBALE HERE &
HKD million HKD million HKD million
BEET BB BEATL
Expand dyeing service capacity and enhance BEAR FARBERRER 499 36.0 139 Byendof 2023
efficiency by way of upgrading, replacing and SHETLERBE IR 2023 FEA]
acquiring machineries and facilties R
Strengthen research and development capabilty M1 ZEREEH 28 H K 34 29 05  Byendof 2023
and quality control for dyeing services R A 203FEH
Replace a coal-burning-boiler by a natural-gas-boiler ;A& AR IAIEE it e 136 79 57  Byendof2023
023EEA
Expand inteqrated enterprise planning resource  EEGALCEEFREZS 09 09 - NATER
system
Repayment of bank loan BEBITER 95 95 - NATER
General working capital —HeEES 83 83 - NA T iER
85.6 65.5 20.1
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EREIREAN

Please refer to the Prospectus for the original intended timeframe
for utilisation of the net proceeds. Since the outbreak of the
COVID-19 has slowed down the economic of China and the world,
orders of Dyeing services and Laces products had a sharp decrease
during the Reporting Period, and the Group were acting with more
caution. Certain plans of the use of proceeds from the IPO were
slowing down. The balance of the unutilised proceeds is expected
to be utilised in the coming year.

CHANGE IN CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
OF THE COMPANY AND MANDATORY
UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER

On 17 June 2022, Deyong Investment Co., Ltd (the “Vendor”),
Mr. Lin Mingiang as the guarantor and Glorious Way Investments
Limited (the “Offeror”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA"), pursuant to which the Vendor agreed
to sell and the Offeror agreed to purchase 724,500,000 Shares,
representing 57.50% of the issued shares of the Company.

Immediately prior to the completion of the SPA, the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with it were interested in an aggregate
of 160,405,000 Shares, representing approximately 12.73% of
the total issued shares of the Company. Immediately following the
completion of the SPA, (i) the Offeror and parties acting in concert
with it are interested in an aggregate of 884,905,000 Shares,
representing approximately 70.23% of the total issued shares of
the Company; and (ii) the Vendor continues to hold 126,000,000
Shares, representing 10.00% of the total issued shares of the
Company. As a result, the Offeror became the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

On 27 June 2022, the Company and the Offeror made a joint
announcement (the “Joint Announcement”), pursuant to which,
Dakin Securities Limited, for and on behalf of the Offeror, made
a mandatory unconditional cash offer (the “Offer”) to acquire all
the issued shares (other than those already owned or agreed to
be acquired by the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it) in
accordance with the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers.
Immediately upon the close of the Offer on 2 September 2022, the
Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it are interested in
an aggregate of 884,910,000 shares, representing approximately
70.2309% of the total issued share capital of the Company.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group does not have any important events after the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors
EFEREFIE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing (¥ % £) ("Mr. Tsoi"), aged 61, is a
controlling shareholder, an Executive Director, and the chairman of
the Board and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Tsoi was appointed
as an Executive Director of our Company on 30 September 2022.
He is responsible for the strategic planning and overall budget of
our Group.

Mr. Tsoi has over 30 years of experience in the industry of
manufacturing and distribution of shoes. He is the director of
Calson Investment Limited, a footwear distribution enterprise
supplying leather, PVC, textile shoes, sandals, etc. to customers
worldwide and a director of Calson Industrial International
Company Limited, a company engaged in property development
business. Mr. Tsoi is also the executive director of Changzhou Qifa
Shoes Co., Ltd.* (&M EEE X B R A ), a company engaged
in manufacturing and distribution of shoes and Changzhou Qichen
Investment Co., Ltd.* (B M BRI EBR 2 F)), a company
engaged in real estate sales and property management, and a
supervisor of Putian Qiming Shoes Co., Ltd.* (B HRAEEAR
‘A |]), a company engaged in manufacturing and distribution of
shoes.

Mr. Tsoi is also a Standing Committee of the Hunan Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference ("CPPCC"”) Hong Kong Convener, Vice-Chairman of
the Hong Kong Provincial CPPCC Member Association, School
Supervisor of TWGHSs Tsoi Wing Sing Primary School* (3 Z = B3
2L E/NERE) Deputy Chairman of Hong Kong Volunteers
Federation* (& /# & T B BB ¥ %5 &£ %) and Expert of Silk Road
Planning Research Center* (%4 B& % &I #f 5t /0 = XK). Mr. Tsoi
was also a Standing Committee Member of the 5th Fujian Putian
Committee of the CPPCC, the chairman of Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals from 2019 to 2020, and the vice chairman of Tung
Wah Group of Hospitals from 2015 to 2019. Mr. Tsoi was also
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in recognition of his significant
contributions and outstanding service over a long period of time in
Hong Kong.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Tsoi is not connected with
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our
Company.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors
B

Mr. Lin Minqgiang (#R3&), aged 67, is an executive Director. He
is responsible for the management, strategic planning and overall
budget of the dyeing services and manufacturing and sales of lace
business.

Mr. Lin Mingiang has over 33 years of experience in the fabrics
weaving and dyeing business. Mr. Lin Mingiang was the committee
member of the Party Branch of Longxia Village of Changle District
in Fuzhou from April 1978 to August 1992. In August 1988, Mr.
Lin Mingiang took the role of the factory director of “Changle
Warp Knitted Fabrics Factory”, a collective enterprise established
in Fujian, which subsequently reformed as a limited liability
company and changed its name into Fujian Changle Xingsheng
Warpknitted Fabrics Co., Ltd.* (fBi2& RE&EmM R KRB AR
A \]) (“Xingsheng”) in October 1996. Mr. Lin Mingiang was the
executive director and the manager of Xingsheng from October
1996 to January 2006. After Deyun Technology merged with
Xingsheng by way of absorption. Mr. Lin Mingiang was appointed
as a director of Deyun Technology in January 2006. Over the years,
he has been responsible for planning the company strategy and
overall budget of Deyun Technology.

Mr. Lin Mingiang was awarded the certificate of completion
of the course of Business Information Strategy and Knowledge
Management CEO Advanced Training Class by School of
Information Science and Technology, Tsinghua University in July
2005.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Lin Mingiang is not

connected with any other Directors or members of the senior
management of our Company.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors
B

Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin (“Mr. Torchin”), aged 71, is an
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Torchin was appointed as
an Executive Director on 30 September 2022. He is responsible for
the sales and marketing of the footwear business of our Group.

Mr. Torchin has over 50 years of experience in the footwear
and apparel industry. He entered the industry in 1970 working
in a footwear chain store in Philadelphia and have since held
various positions in several companies across Europe, Asia and
South America. In 1979, Mr. Torchin built his first shoe company,
an lItalian-manufacturing footwear company, Eclisse Footwear
Company, which was thereafter sold to G.H. Bass & Company.

Mr. Torchin was the founder and a principal of Larry Stuart Ltd.,
a premium brand of women'’s footwear, which was acquired by
Brown Shoe Company in 1995. Mr. Torchin was the President
of MTI from 1999 to 2003, which sources and designs footwear
for many branded companies and retailers in the United States of
America. Mr. Torchin has also served as Vice President of Product
Development for Benco International and later G.H. Bass Shoe
companies. In 2008, Larry was brought in as a director for Donald
J. Pliner (DJP) and which he was also involved in its sale to a private
equity firm.

Mr. Torchin currently holds multiple positions across different
companies, including being the founder and chief executive officer
of LT Group Investment, and principal of Calson Investment Limited
since 2003, the advisor for Eclo Technology, and chief executive
officer of Traction Design group since 2021.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Torchin is not connected

with any other Directors or members of the senior management of
our Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors
B

Ms. Jian Xuegen (fZE R ) (“Ms. Jian"), aged 37, is an Executive
Director of the Company. Ms. Jian was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 30 September 2022. She is responsible
for the overall financial affairs of our Group.

Ms. Jian has over 13 years of experience in accounting, finance and
the corporate secretary field. Ms. Jian joined Ernst & Young Hua
Ming LLP Guangzhou Branch in November 2008 and left with her
last position as manager in the assurance department in December
2016. From December 2016 to June 2021 and from January 2020
to June 2021, she worked as financial controller and company
secretary, respectively, in the group of Hong Kong Aerospace
Technology Group Limited (formerly known as Eternity Technology
Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1725). Since February 2019, Ms. Jian has joined Wisdom
Professional Limited, a professional services provider specialising in
corporate and investor services, with her position as a consultant
and is responsible for providing professional corporate secretarial
services to companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Since February
2019, she has been the company secretary of Confidence
Intelligence Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1967). Ms. Jian has also been the company
secretary of Sprocomm Intelligence Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1401) since September 2019. She
has been the financial controller of Hope Faith Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company since November 2022.

Ms. Jian obtained her Bachelor's degree in Accounting from the
South China University of Technology in July 2008. She has been a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since January 2019. She has also been a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since December 2010.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Ms. Jian is not connected with
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our
Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors
FEEFHEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Kit Ting (A% E) ("Mr. Chow"), aged 38,
was appointed as our independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 16 December 2020. Mr. Chow is
primarily responsible for supervising the management of our Group
independently.

Mr. Chow has over 15 years’ experience in the fields of auditing,
accounting, corporate finance, compliance and company
secretarial. He worked for an international accounting firm and
various private or listed companies as financial controller and
company secretary. From July 2018 to July 2021, Mr. Chow
worked as an independent non-executive director at Hong Kong
Aerospace Technology Group Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1725.HK).
He has been the company secretary of Investech Holdings Limited,
a company whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1087.HK) since January 2023.

Mr. Chow obtained a bachelor’s degree of commerce in accounting
from Macquarie University, Australia, in November 2007, and an
EMBA degree from Chinese University of Hong Kong (& /& # X
K &) in November 2021. He was accredited as a Certified Public
Accountant in CPA Australia and as a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2011 and
May 2015, respectively.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Chow is not connected with

any other Directors or members of the senior management of our
Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors
B

Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin (it B %) (“Dr. Chiu"), aged 72,
was appointed as our Independent Non-executive Director, a
member of the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee on 30 September 2022. Dr. Chiu is
primarily responsible for supervising the management of our Group
independently.

Dr. Chiu has more than 40 years of international experience in real
estate in Hong Kong and overseas. Dr. Chiu joined the CK Group
in 1997 and has been an executive director since February 2015
and an executive committee member since June 2015 of CK Asset
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1113), heading the real estate sales, marketing and property
management teams. Dr. Chiu is a director of certain companies
controlled by certain substantial shareholders of CK Asset Holdings
Limited within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Dr. Chiu is also
the chairman of ARA Asset Management (Prosperity) Limited as
the manager of Prosperity REIT, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 808); a non-executive director of ARA Asset
Management (Fortune) Limited as the manager of Fortune REIT,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 778); and a
non-executive director of ESR Group Limited (formerly known as
ESR Cayman Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1821).

Dr. Chiu is a Fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors,
a Council Member and a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors, a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate
Administrators, a Vice Chairman of the Board of Governors of
Hong Kong Baptist University Foundation, an Honorary Associate
Member of Business of Trent University, Canada, a member of the
Singapore Management University International Advisory Council
in China, an Adjunct Professor and a member of the Advisory
Committee of the School of Business of Hong Kong Baptist
University and a Senior Departmental Fellow of the Department of
Land Economy at University of Cambridge, the United Kingdom.
Dr. Chiu was previously an Honorary Professor of School of
Pharmaceutical Sciences of Sun Yat-sen University and a member
of the Standing Committee of the 12th Shanghai Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the
People’s Republic of China.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Dr. Chiu is not connected with
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our
Company.
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Mr. Chan Hoi Shan (BR’& L) (“Mr. Chan"), aged 65, was
appointed as our Independent Non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 30 September
2022. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible for supervising the
management of our Group independently.

Mr. Chan has over 40 years of experience in the sales industry. He
has worked in the sales team at Devie & Co. Limited in Hong Kong,
and thereafter he served as the sales manager at Huls Far East
Co., Ltd in Hong Kong, both of which were principally engaged in
chemical trading business. He is currently the director of Goldward
Fine Chemicals Ltd which is principally engaged in trading of
chemical products.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Chan is not connected with

any other Directors or members of the senior management of our
Company.
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PEEAWE

The Board recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of its shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted a set of corporate governance practices
which aligns with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Company has also established whistleblowing channels for
external parties to raise concerns in relation to possible misconduct
of the Group, its employees or directors in a confidential or
anonymous manner, or both. The Board has delegated authority to
the Audit Committee to review the Group Anti-Bribery and Anti-
Corruption Policy and the Group Whistleblowing Policy periodically
and receive updates on matters concerning breaches of the Group
Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy and whistleblowing
disclosures.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
CG Code during the Reporting Period.

The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate
governance practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the
CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS (THE “MODEL CODE")

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. All Directors have confirmed that, following
specific enquiry by the Company, they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code for the Reporting
Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. During
the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed and discussed the
corporate governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with
the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing is the chairman of the Board and executive
Director, who has a pivotal role to the Board in relation to the
management, strategic planning and overall budget of our Group.

The Company has not appointed any chief executive officer. The
daily operation and management of the Company is monitored
by the executive Directors. The Board considers the present
structure is more suitable for the Company because it can promote
the efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s
strategies.

CG Code provision C.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other directors. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has conducted such meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are highly skilled
professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience
in the fields of accounting, finance, business and corporate
governance. Their skills, expertise and number in the Board ensure
that strong independent views and judgement are brought in the
Board’s deliberations and that such views and judgement carry
weight in the Board’s decision-making process. Their presence and
participation also enable the Board to maintain high standards
of compliance in financial and other mandatory reporting
requirements, and provide adequate checks and balances to
safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Company annually assesses the independence of each
independent non-executive Director during their terms of
appointment. The Company received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive Director of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.
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THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Board’s composition
during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual
report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

By

EECHAHNERNTEER =R BUIENITE
HHEK -EZTENRERBRAFERB AR
E PN

Date of joining

Name Age Gender the Group Roles and responsibilities
HE Fie HEl MAXREEBH AERBE
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing 61 Male 30 September 2022 Overseeing the strategic planning and overall
budget of our Group
BERNE 615% 5 2022%9A30H ERAEENRBEREI L BERA
Mr. Lin Mingiang 67 Male 23 January 2006 Overseeing the management, strategic
planning and overall budget of the business
of dyeing services and manufacturing of
lace of our Group
MR L& 67 5% % 20064 1H23H ERAREEICERBERG L EEEBN
EE - RRAEREERE
Mr. Larry Stuart 71 Male 30 September 2022 Overseeing sales and marketing of the
Torchin footwear business of our Group
Larry Stuart 715% B 2022%9A30H ERAEENERHEEREHER
Torchin 5t 4
Ms. Jian Xuegen 37 Female 30 September 2022 Overseeing overall financial affairs of our
Group
BERZL 37 5% . 20229 9H30H ERAEENERUBEE

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES

Date of joining
Name Age Gender the Group Roles and responsibilities

e Fir MR MAREEBH ABRBE

Mr. Chow Kit Ting 38 Male 16 December 2020 Supervising and providing independent advice
to our Group; serves as the chairman
of the Audit Committee; serves on the
Remuneration Committee

2020512 A 16 H EEASENMARRBEYER  BEF
ZZEGXR EEFHEEEKE

3

BABELE 38%%

Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, 72 Male 30 September 2022 Supervising and providing independent advice
Justin to our Group; serves on the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee
202249 A30H EEAEENMEREBYER  BEH
WEEEe BEXRZESLRERRXEES

=

B A 1S 72 5%

N

Mr. Chan Hoi Shan 65 Male 30 September 2022 Supervising and providing independent advice
to our Group; serves as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, serves on
the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee

BREIL e E 65 5% % 202299 A30H EEAEENMEREBYER  BEH
MEEGEF BEZZEGRREELREE
2HE

Biographical details of the members of the Board and relationship EZE€KEMNERFBERESSKNE ZHMBE
between members of the Board are set out in the section headed — EHRAFIREFEBEFIE] —&0 -
“Biographical Details of Directors” in this annual report.
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The Directors believe that the composition of the Board reflects
the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Group and for
effective leadership as the executive Directors possess extensive
experience in managing the Group’s business operations; and
professional knowledge in the fabrics weaving industry, dyeing
industry, and footwear industry while the three independent
non-executive Directors possess professional knowledge and
broad experience in accounting, finance, business and corporate
governance. The Directors are of the opinion that the current
Board structure can ensure the independence and objectivity of
the Board and also safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirement of the Listing Rules of having a minimum of three
independent non- executive Directors (representing at least one-
third of the Board) with one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company. It oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions,
financial performance and internal controls and it is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board shall make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company and its shareholders.
Daily business operations and management, inter alia, the
implementation of strategies are delegated to the executive
Directors along with other senior management. They report
periodically to the Board their work and business decisions.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing, Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin, Ms. Jian
Xuegen, Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin and Mr. Chan Hoi Shan
has signed a letter of appointment with our Company up to a
term of three years commencing from 30 September 2022. Each
of Mr. Lin Mingiang and Mr. Chow Kit Ting has signed a letter
of appointment with our Company up to a term of three years
which commenced from 16 December 2020 and Mr. Chow Kit
Ting renewed his appointment on 30 September 2022. These
appointments may be terminated in accordance with the terms of
the letter of appointment.
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Pursuant to article 108 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting, one
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third
shall be the number of retiring Directors. The Directors to retire
in each year shall be those who have been in office longest since
their last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be
determined by lot.

Pursuant to article 112 of the Articles, at any time or from time
to time, the Board shall have the power to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
additional Director to the existing Board subject to any maximum
number of Directors, if any, as may be determined by the members
in a general meeting. Any Director so appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
our Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual general
meeting of our Company after his appointment and be eligible
for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed by the
Board shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors
or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an
annual general meeting.

A Director may be removed by an ordinary resolution of the
Company before the expiration of his term of office (but without
prejudice to any claim which such Director may have for damages
for any breach of any contract between him and the Company)
and the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint another in
his place.

Pursuant to articles 108 and 112 of the Articles, Mr. Tsoi Wing
Sing, Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin, Ms. Jian Xuegen, Mr. Chow Kit Ting,
Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin and Mr. Chan Hoi Shan will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM").
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

To enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain high
standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted a
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets
out the objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity
of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in
selecting candidates to the Board, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Company is also committed to adopting a similar approach to
promote diversity of the management (including but not limited to
the senior management) to enhance the effectiveness of corporate
governance. The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and
skills, including knowledge and experience in the areas of fabrics
weaving and dyeing, footwear business, auditing and accounting
and business administration. Furthermore, the Directors range from
37 years old to 72 years old, and comprise 6 males and 1 female.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of Board members and compliance with relevant codes governing
board diversity under the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
will review the Board Diversity Policy and diversity profile (including
gender balance) from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revision
that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board. The Company will also disclose in the corporate governance
report on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives on
an annual basis.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) for the Nomination Committee to consider and make
recommendations on suitable candidates for directorship.

Selection criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

(1) reputation for integrity;

(2) accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in;

(3) commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(4) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race,
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background and length of service;

(5) qualifications which include professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industry experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

(6) the number of existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

(7) requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in
Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

(8) Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for
achieving diversity on the Board; and

(9) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company'’s
business.

The aforesaid factors are for reference only, and not meant to

be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person as it considers appropriate.
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Procedures for nominating director

Subject to the provisions in the Articles and the Listing Rules, if the
Board recognises the need for an additional Director or a member
of senior management, the following procedures will be followed:

(1) The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify
potential candidates based on the criteria as set out in the
selection criteria, possibly with assistance from external
agencies and/or advisors;

(2) The Nomination Committee and/or the company secretary
of the Company will provide the Board with the biographical
details and details of the relationship between the candidate
and the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills
and experience, other positions which involve significant time
commitment and any other particulars required by the Listing
Rules, the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and other
regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to
the Board;

(3) The Nomination Committee will make recommendation to
the Board on the proposed candidate(s) and the terms and
conditions of the appointment;

(4)  The Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board, being
particularly mindful of gender balance;

(5) In the case of the appointment of an independent non-
executive director, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should obtain all information in relation to the
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess
the independence of the Director in accordance with the
factors set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time; and

(6) The Board will then deliberate and decide on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee.
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Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee monitors the implementation of the
Nomination Policy and reports to the Board annually.

PROCEEDINGS OF GENERAL MEETINGS,
BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board may meet for the dispatch of business, adjourn and
otherwise regulate its meeting and proceedings as it thinks fit
and may determine the quorum necessary for the transaction of
business. An AGM shall be called by at least 21 days’ notice in
writing, and a general meeting of the Company, other than an
AGM, shall be called by at least 14 days’ notice in writing. The
notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed
to be served and of the day for which it is given, and must specify
the time, place and agenda of the meeting and particulars of the
resolution(s) to be considered at that meeting and, in the case of
special business, the general nature of that business.

A meeting of the Board or any committee of the Board may be held
by means of such telephone, electronic or other communication
facilities as permit all persons participating in the meeting.

A Director shall not vote (nor shall he be counted in the quorum)
on any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract or
arrangement or proposal in which he or any of his close associate(s)
has/have a material interest, and if he shall do so his vote shall
not be counted (nor shall he be counted in the quorum for that
resolution).

At least four regular Board meetings involving active participation,
either in person or through electronic means of communication,
of a majority of Directors will be held at approximately quarterly
intervals in each financial year to comply with code provision C.5.1
of the CG Code. All Directors will have the opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for the regular board meetings. Written
notice of at least 14 days will be given of a regular board meeting
to all directors, and agenda and accompanying board papers will
be sent to all directors at least 3 days before the intended date
of meeting. Four Board meetings were held during the Reporting
Period.
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The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings of the Company held during the Reporting
Period are set out in the table below:

RBEHE SEFRARARTNESFTERE
FEREEERNBLFREHN TR

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEREEERE

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee
ESHE =3 EREEE REZES FMEES
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lin Mingiang MER T E 4/4 - - -
Mr. Lin Chaowei MERE L& 4/4 - - -
Mr. Lin Chaowen MBI 4/4 - - -
Mr. Lin Bingzhong MERELE 4/4 - - -
Mr. Wei Cunzhuo BEAKE 4/4 - - -
Mes. Lin Lili MAH 22 £ 4/4 - 2/2 -
Independent Non-Executive BIFHITES

Directors

Mr. Sheng Zijiu BFNEE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Chow Kit Ting BHELE 4/4 2/2 - 2/2
Mr. Yip Koon Shing BN E 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Wong Chun Sek Edmund E=EWEEE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2

The management has been providing all members of the Board a
monthly update in accordance with code provision D.1.2 of the CG
Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee (“Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee"”), for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, which were posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk) and
the Company (www.ds-lace.com). All committees should report
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made. All
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Group established the Audit Committee on 16 December
2020 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Chow Kit Ting, who holds
the appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rules
3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules and have two other members,
namely Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin and Mr. Chan Hoi Shan.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are not
limited to, the following: (i) assisting the Board by providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the
Group; (ii) overseeing the audit process and performing other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board; (iii) developing
and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate governance;
(iv) making recommendations to the Board; and (v) ensuring
that good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two
meeting and the work performed by the Audit Committee was
summarised as follows:

(1) reviewed the Company’s interim results and annual results;

(2) reviewed the findings and recommendations from external
auditors;

(3) reviewed the independence and engagement of the external
auditors;

(4) reviewed the audit plan, the development in new accounting
standards and their impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position;

(5) reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff in the Group’s accounting and financial

reporting functions;

(6) reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems;

(7) reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices; and

(8) reviewed the Group Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy
and the Group Whistleblowing Policy.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company the annual results and annual report of the Company for
the Reporting Period, including accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period comply with applicable accounting standards and the Listing
Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on
16 December 2020 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph E of the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Chan Hoi Shan,
and have two other members, namely Mr. Chow Kit Ting and Dr.
Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations
to the Board on our policy and structure for all remuneration
of Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration; (ii) determining the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and senior management and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors; and (iii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposal with reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held
two meetings to review the performance and remuneration
packages and emoluments of the Directors and senior
management and considered that they are fair and reasonable
during the Reporting Period.

ERZEGCLEARFRERERMARRARTRSE
HRNE2FXERFR BRAKERANES

[RAIKAE B - 2 8 R RRHE I & A IS 3R E EH T
Wi BRZBER R ARERBEHREOLER
AHBBEATAERGHENRETRA X
EHFED B -

FMEES

AATR2020F 12 A16 BRIBRCEESATASEE
BRYHFMNEE S WrTAEmBEEE - M
ZEeMBESE N NE TR ARARBUER -

FHNEESTEARELEL SEMBHMKE
BEGREEERBREESL -

FMERENEERA R (BETRN) TIIFE:
(WVHEBREERSREEENHIREREEIA
MEI BB FTHFMERRNEUERARFRES
SREEERZR  ((ET2BATEELERE
EEMNBESFMNFE UM FATEFTOHFHE
ExeRfERES  RN2ZEFSTHE
MARBIE  BEERIEERENHBES -

REEHE FHEZESCB/TMAEE " Mg
NEEMERATEENRBENRGMTBEEME -
TRBNRBEHEBELATAIE -

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf

35



36

Corporate Governance Report
TrEELRWmE

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee on 16
December 2020 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing, and
have two other members, namely Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin and
Mr. Chan Hoi Shan.

The primary duties of our Nomination Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; (i) making recommendations
to the Board on matters relating to the appointment and re-
appointment of Director; and (iv) reviewing the Board Diversity
Policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings and the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board, assessing the independence of
independence non-executive Directors, identify individuals suitably
qualified to become board members and make recommendations
to the Board and reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and other
matters of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which aims to ensure sustainable development of its
business operations and to provide a favorable return to its
shareholders.

The declaration and payment of future dividends will be subject
to the decision of the Board having regard to various factors,
including but not limited to the Group’s business operation
and financial performance, profitability, business development,
prospect, capital requirements, and economic outlook. Declaration
and payment of dividends is also subject to any applicable laws and
the Articles. The dividend distribution record in the past may not
be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of dividends
that may be declared or paid by the Board in the future. Currently,
the Group does not have a fixed dividend policy and does not have
a pre-determined dividend distribution action.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board thinks
fit and necessary. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company that any dividend
will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has delegated the corporate governance function to the
Audit Committee, whose authorities include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The corporate governance policy is formulated with an emphasis
on the Board’s quality, effective internal control, stringent
disclosure practices and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Board strives to comply with
the code provisions and reviews its corporate governance policy
regularly in order to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance, and to ensure the full compliance of the
Group's operations with applicable laws and regulations.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the CG Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should
participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company recommends and/or arranges the Directors
to participate in Director’s training courses in order to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. In addition, the Company
also provides relevant reading materials to the Directors for their
studying and reference. All Directors, namely Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing,
Mr. Lin Mingiang, Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin, Ms. Jian Xuegen,
Mr. Chow Kit Ting, Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin and Mr. Chan
Hoi Shan confirmed that they have complied with the CG Code
provision C.1.4 during the Reporting Period by attending seminars
and briefings and reading relevant materials.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers, as its
external auditor for the Reporting Period. There was no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
external auditor. During the Reporting Period, the fees payable
to PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of its audit services and
non-audit services provided to the Company were approximately
RMB1.7 million and RMBO0.5 million, respectively.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Reporting
Period, the Directors:

o assessed the reasonableness of preparing the consolidated
financial statements taking into consideration the Group's
financial performance, position, cash flows and liquidity
ratios;

e  selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

o made judgements and estimates in a prudent, fair and
reasonable manner.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The statement
of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out
in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 93
to page 102 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

Risk management and internal control

The Group maintains an effective internal control and risk
management system to safeguard the investment of the Company’s
shareholders and the Group's assets at all times.

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility
for overseeing the Company’s internal control, financial control
and risk management system and shall monitor its effectiveness
on an ongoing basis. A review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems will be conducted by the
Board at least annually.
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The Company has established the following risk management
procedures to provide reasonable assurance against material errors,
losses or fraud:

(1) Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks that could
affect the achievement of goals of the Group;

(2) Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk
according to its likely impact and the likelihood of occurrence;
and

(3) Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate
the risks.

Risk identification and assessment are performed or updated
annually, and the results of risk assessment, evaluation and
mitigation of each function or operation are documented to
communicate to the Board and management for reviews.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are, however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

A review on the internal control systems of the Company,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions has been carried out by an independent
consultancy company. The independent consultancy company has
conducted analysis and independent assessment on the adequacy
and the effectiveness of the internal control system and risk
management of the Group, and has submitted the findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Board. Over the
Audit Committee meeting and Board meeting held on 30 March
2023, the Audit Committee and the Board reviewed the report
issued by independent consultancy company and they are of the
view that the internal control measures in place are adequate and
effective to safeguard the interest of Company’s shareholders and
the Group’s assets.

The Group does not have an internal audit function. Taking into
account the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business,
the Board have sufficient capacity to oversee the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control
system and to assess its effectiveness, and accordingly there is no
immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the
Group.
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The Group has implemented a policy on disclosure of inside
information which sets out the procedures and internal controls
for handling and dissemination of inside information. The policy
provides guidelines to the Directors and all relevant employees
of the Group to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent the
Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. It
also includes appropriate internal control and reporting systems to
identify and assess potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

(1)  define the requirements of periodic financial and operational
reporting to the Board to enable them to assess inside
information and make timely disclosures, if necessary;

(2) controls the access to inside information by employees on a
need-to-know basis, and safeguarding the confidentiality of
the inside information before it is properly disclosed to public;
and

(3) procedures of communicating with the Group’s stakeholders
in ways which are in compliance with the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Xu Jing, aged 45, was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 20 February 2020 and she is responsible for
the Group’s company secretarial duties and corporate governance
matters in relation to the Company. Ms. Xu Jing possesses
the necessary qualification and experience, and is capable of
performing the functions of a company secretary. During the
Reporting Period, Ms. Xu Jing confirmed that she has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training as required under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may
be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an
AGM, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary general
meetings may be convened on the requisition of one or more
members holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the secretary of the Company for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS
TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT
SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders of the Company are requested to follow article 64 of
the Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above in
the paragraph headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting”.

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, no person (other than a
retiring Director) shall, unless recommended by the Board for
election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the head office of the Company or at the Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company. The
period for lodgement of such notices will commence no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum
length of the period during which such notices to the Company
may be given will be at least seven days.
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The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a Director is posted on the website of the
Company. Shareholders or the Company may refer to the above
procedures for putting forward any other proposals at general
meetings.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
shareholders. Information of the Company is disseminated to the
shareholders in the following manner:

o Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
shareholders;

o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results on the website of the Company and the website of
the Stock Exchange, and issue of other announcements and
shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing
disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; and

e  The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and shareholders.

The Company has in place a shareholder communication policy to
ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing
communication with the existing shareholders and potential
investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and
the public. Enquiries to the Board or the Company may be sent by
post to the Company’s head office. The Company also maintains
a website at www.ds-lace.com where up-to-date information and
updates of the Company’s operations, performances and strategies
are available to public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 16 December 2020, the Company adopted an amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association which had been
uploaded to the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Save as disclosed above, there had been no changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company during the Reporting
Period.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Deyun Holding Ltd. (the “Company” and its subsidiaries,
collectively the “Group”) presents the Environmental, Social
and Governance ("ESG") report, which contains information
on the Group’s business activities, ESG governance, strategies,
performances and ongoing commitment towards sustainable
development. This ESG report is intended to enhance the
confidence and understanding of the stakeholders towards the
Group.

COMPANY PROFILE

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) manufacturing and sales of lace in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Services and products
of this business segment can be broadly categorised into dyeing
services and lace manufacturing; and (i) footwear trading.

REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE

The Group presents its ESG report that captures the ESG
performance of the Group from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2022.

Based on the principle of materiality, the scope of this report
covers the Group’s business operations in both Hong Kong and the
PRC, where the Group derives its revenue. All the companies of the
Group were included in the assessment of ESG performance for
the purpose of this report.

BASIS FOR COMPILATION OF THE REPORT

This report was prepared with reference to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). An assessment on
the applicability and materiality of the relevant key performance
indicators under the ESG Reporting Guide had been conducted.

*  For identification purpose only
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ESG REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group applied the following principles in this report:

Materiality: In compliance with the requirements of materiality
principle defined by the Stock Exchange, the ESG issues considered
by the board of directors (the “Board”) and the ESG working
group, stakeholders communication, identification process of
substantive issues and the substantive issues are disclosed in the
corresponding part of this report.

Quantitative: Statistical standards, methods, assumptions and/or
calculation tools for quantitative key performance indicators herein
and source of conversion factors are all explained below.

Balance: This report shall provide an unbiased picture of the
Group’s performance during the reporting period and should
avoid selections, omissions, or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence the decision or judgment made by the
report readers.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies applied to the data
disclosed in this report shall be consistent.

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group acknowledges the importance of ESG commitment and
it takes ESG into consideration in its decision making process. The
Group has developed an ESG governance structure to integrate
ESG into its business operations and align ESG governance with its
strategic growth. The ESG governance structure is divided into two
components, namely the Board and an ESG working group.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's ESG strategy
and reporting. It oversees the overall governance and progress
of the Group’s ESG management system, policies, commitments,
strategies and objectives. It also participates in the evaluation and
determination of ESG-related risks. The Group implemented ESG
management system and policies to ensure compliance with the
relevant environmental protection laws and regulations, achieve
other ESG objectives and mitigate ESG-related risks. It also formed
a designated ESG working group to oversee and monitor the
implementation and effectiveness of the ESG management system
and policies. The ESG working group reports to the Board regularly.
In order to evaluate, prioritise and manage the Group’s material
ESG issues, the Board discusses and reviews the Group’s ESG-
related risks, performance, progress, goals and targets regularly
with the assistance of the ESG working group. The Board reviewed
the contents disclosed in this report.
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The data and information in this ESG report are sourced from the
relevant documents, reports, statistical data, management and
operation information collected by the Group.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance structure
and practices has been set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

ESG STRATEGIES

The Group believes that it is essential to implement appropriate
ESG strategies in order to achieve sustainable corporate
development. Key ESG strategies of the Group are set out below:

o Maintain regular communications with stakeholders to
identify ESG aspects that are material and relevant

o Maintain high environmental and social standards to ensure
sustainable development of the Group’s business operations

o Comply with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
the Group’s business operations including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment

o Encourage employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders to participate in environmental and social

activities that benefit the community as a whole

o Review the ESG strategies on an annual basis
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT EHhE2H

The Group listens to its stakeholders as their contributions are ~ AEEEBFHENER  AABRENEREA
critical to the Group’s long-term success and development. The SEEMNRPKNIEEEZFEZ - ALBBAS
Group communicates with its stakeholders regularly through  TERETFHEZHEBRR U THRESHBEIL
diverse channels to understand their concerns and respond in a  NEHHEIE - FREIANEB R NESHENDE -

46

timely manner. The table below sets forth the key stakeholders I & B AN BHYESG B & I R RESR L ELAY -

identified by the Group and provides the basis for identifying ESG
substantive issues of the Group.

Stakeholders Expectations and concerns Management responses
& HE KRB EEEEE
Shareholders e Actin the best interest of shareholders Actively identify attractive business
% RRREENRITE opportunities
e Return on investment B Y& AR5 )
R & B Improve profitability
e Information disclosure M E R T g
BRI R Regular information disclosure
e Compliance with laws and regulations TEHAE R R
B ERER Enhance risk management and internal
controls
hnag [ b B B Ko 1A B 42 )
Governments and e Compliance with laws and regulations Enhance risk management and internal
requlatory bodies B ERER controls
BT R BB 8 e Business and economic development hno% 3 ke B R K R B A5 i
EB R EER Regular update on relevant laws and
e Social contribution regulations
e ER EHE SERAEER
e Fulfilment of tax obligations Pay tax in full and on time
BITRIEER R R EEN
e Environment protection Purchase/upgrade facilities to reduce
IRRIRE emissions arising from the production
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Stakeholders

Expectations and concerns

Management responses

BoE HMEREY B B fE
Employees Employee compensation and benefits Offer attractive salary and incentives
== 8 T & & A based on performance
Training and career development RIREERE ARSI N F KR EZE
moll MR E R Provide regular trainings for employees
Safe working environment RETEE T
ZE2TIERE Monitor work safety and make sure
employees are familiar with the work
safety handbook
ERTEZ2UHEREIAEIEZS
F i
Customers Quality products and services Enhance quality control on production
®P BEEMERE process and products
Protection of customers rights MR A ERENEMNE SIS
RERFER Perform the contract according to law
ERBH
Suppliers Integrity cooperation Build a long-term reliable supply chain
e HIEEE B REAT SEMMERE
Business ethics and credibility Perform the contract according to law
[HESESREEAE KERBH)
Communities/public Environmental protection Reduce environmental pollutions
e N RIERE WA BRIB )2
Employment opportunities Purchase/upgrade facilities to reduce
ThEME emissions arising from the production

process

BETRREARD EEBRRTEE

BRI

Provide equal employment opportunities

REHEFENREES

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The ESG working group reviews the Group’s operations and
identifies relevant ESG issues and assesses the importance of
related matters to its businesses and stakeholders. The ESG
working group regularly collects information and views from
relevant departments and stakeholders of the Group to identify

EEMME

ESG TR/ NMAEE NG B #8038 5 1B ESG &
B WrHEAE R EXRB RSN ENEEN -
ESGTiE/NMEBASEMR AP M5 & EHK
FEHMRER  UAHREKRESGERE - TRHHIE
RIEHEB M RNEEENESGHERE ¢

significant ESG issues. The table below sets forth the Group’s

significant ESG issues based on their relative importance:

ESG aspects as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide
ESGH &EIE I HIIMESGHE

The Group’s significant ESG issues

AEBHEKRESGEE

(A) Environmental
(A)EBE

A1 Emissions

AVEER

A2 Use of Resources

A2 &R FIH

A3 Environment and Natural Resources
ASIRIERKAREIR

A4 Climate Change
AL R IR b
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Air pollutant emissions
RS R BE L

Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions
AERE(EZRE]) B
Sewage treatment

EIKER R

Hazardous waste management

BEEREERMER

Energy management
BERE TR
Water management
FKE®R

Negative environmental impacts arising from business
operations
EEBLEANATEEYE

Global warming
2IREE
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ESG aspects as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide

ESGHR LI5S HIIMWESG HE

The Group'’s significant ESG issues

REBMWEKXESGEE

(B) Social
(B)iE

B1 Employment
B1{E &

B2 Health and Safety
B2 s

B3 Development and Training
B3 & & Mg

B4 Labour Standards
B4 45 T 4R

B5 Supply Chain Management
B5 fH fE it & 12

B6 Product Responsibility
B6EmEE

B7 Anti-corruption
B7RE S

B8 Community Investment
B8it[@ix &

Recruitment, promotion, and dismissal Compensation and
benefits

B B R R E I AR R

Equal opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination
FERE  ZRERRER

Safety production management
LZEREEER

Employee development and training
8 TR RE

Prevention of child and forced labour
[y b T Mo ss T

Supply chain management
HrEsEEIR

Product quality and safety
EnEERELE
Customer satisfaction

EFMEE

Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money laundering

REF REFERRLE

Corporate social responsibility
TELTEET

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

This ESG report had undergone the internal review process of the
Group and was reviewed by the Board. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group confirmed that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal control
systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the disclosed contents
comply with the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and
suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect of this ESG
report or the Group’s performances in sustainable development by
mailing to Unit 1705, 17/F, Strand 50, 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong.

Y
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to protect the
environment and it has implemented policies to reduce
emissions and improve the efficiency in the use of resources.

The Group's business is subject to various PRC environmental
protection laws and regulations as well as environmental
regulations promulgated by the local governments where the
Group operates. Under the prevailing laws and regulations
in the PRC, the Group is subject to provisions including
Environmental Protection law of the PRC (Ff #E A R # A1
IR (R # %), Promotion of Cleaner Production Law of the
PRC (HP 2E A R H BB R 4 E 8 1 %), Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the PRC (FF £ A B $£ A1 B 7K
S5 A%), Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise
Pollution Law of the PRC (A #E A B AL AN BRI BR 55 12 B2 55 22 [y
J& %), and Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution
Law of the PRC (HP#E A R HEANE [E B8 B2 4)5 R IRIBVEE).

To ensure compliance with the latest environmental laws
and regulations, the Group has implemented stringent
environmental protection policies setting out its goals and
policies in relation to environmental matters. The Group has
also installed air filtration facilities and sewage treatment
system to reduce emissions. The Group obtained a certificate
for complying with the requirement of GB/T 24001-2016/
ISO14001:2015 for its environmental management system on
11 October 2018.

The Group is required under the PRC law to obtain a valid
pollutant discharge permit for its production facilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
obtained all relevant pollutant discharge permit and it
complied with all applicable environmental laws and
regulations in all material respects and had not been
subject to any material penalty in relation to environmental
protection.
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A.1 Emissions A.1 HER

Emissions from the Group’s production process include
air pollutants, sewage and solid waste.

In order to reduce the level of pollution, the Group has (i)
upgraded its boilers to generate heat from natural gas
for its dyeing services, which would significantly reduce
the amount of air pollutants emitted; and (ii) installed a
sewage treatment system to collect and process sewage
to reduce hazardous substance in the sewage generated
during the dyeing process and in accordance with
different national standards (GB 13271-2014 for air and
GB 4287-2012 for wastewater) in the PRC, which are
comparable to corresponding international standards.
An online real-time monitoring system has also been
installed to connect such facilities to environmental
authority of the PRC government, ensuring that the
Group can meet the pollutant emission standard at all
times. The Group has been spending continuous effort
to enhance its equipment and facilities for satisfying
the increasingly stringent environmental protection
requirement. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group did not exceed any maximum pollutants
emission standards under the monitoring system and
maintained a clean record with the government.

To complement with the use of natural-gas-boiler,
the Group has also acquired some crucial waste
treatment equipment, including flue gas purifying
treatment machines which can transform and filter the
concentrated smoke produced by its natural-gas-boiler
to less harmful substances and water vapour. This new
equipment allows the Group to control the amount of
pollutants emitted to the environment in a more stable
way and fulfil the discharge standard stipulated by the
PRC government.

AEETEBRETHNHERBRERSGR
)~ BEOK R ERERERY o

REDEREE  RBEBERRELE
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EET KGR IR B T AR N R IR R UK
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Besides, the Group has a number of vehicles for
transportation of materials and products, which
generate exhaust gas from the combustion of petrol
and diesel. The Group'’s emission reduction measures for
vehicles include:

turn off the engine when the vehicle is not in use;

e plan routes ahead of time to reduce route
repetition and optimise fuel consumption;

° undergo maintenance service regularly to ensure
optimal engine performance and fuel use; and

° optimise operational procedures to increase
efficiency and reduce vehicle idling rates

(i)  Air pollutant emissions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, air
pollutants generated from the use of the Group’s
coal-burning-boiler contributed to the emission
of 18.76 kg (2021: 28.33 kg) of nitrogen oxides
(NOy, 19.26 kg (2021: 29.09 kg) of sulphur oxides
(SO and 3.14 kg (2021: 4.74 kg) of respiratory
suspended particles (PM), and air pollutants
generated from the use of the Group’s motor
vehicles contributed to the emission of 352.24
kg (2021: 157.68 kg) of nitrogen oxides (NO,),
0.61 kg (2021: 0.40 kg) of sulphur oxides (SOy)
and 33.82 kg (2021: 13.64 kg) of respiratory
suspended particles (PM).

Air pollutant emissions reduction target
To better manage the Group’s ESG performance,

the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for
air pollutant emissions as follows:

o AEBEERERRVERM R
EmMEEE  ZEHBERBMNET
R SCHELBER - ARB K E HR
HHEREE

s HEMDEMEBERMBRAEDK:

o IRATAEIEA  URAEAREREY
BALKRHERE

o TEHETTHERBURRRENE
B RE RIROEFE ¢ R

o BILEERF URSEMAMEL
MO REEEER

() ZEFOTRYHK

HZE2022F12A31HILFE &F
AASEMNREREEENTRS
RYERHE K 18.76 T 52 (2021 4 ¢
28.33F 7)) REAELYI(NOx) ~ 19.26
F 52 (20214 : 29.09 T %) Ha1t
1 (SOx) %2 3.14F 52 (2021 5 : 4.74
F52) Al AR A F FERL Y (PM) JA K2
FRAAEENKEEEENER
52 E B HE R 352.24 F 52 (2021
& :157.68F52) WAL (NOX)
0.61F 5 (20214 : 040 FT =) 1
A1 ¥ (SOx) % 33.82 F 72 (2021
F 13.64F %) AR ABZ TR
(PM) »

ERSRYRPEEIE
AR ER AREBMESGE R

REBRERBERTEMYEBERE
AEtwBiR - AT

Environmental indicators Reduction target Baseline year Status
RBEE W ERFE R 3%

NO, emission intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
AAMPREE 2027 F R 2% 2022 F #EITH
SOy emission intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
mA LM REE 2027 F R 2% 2022 F #EITH
PM emission intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
IR TFHEREE 2027 F AR A 2% 2022 F #HITH
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(ii) GHG emissions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group’s activities contributed to 38,209.38 tonnes
(2021: 53,508.62 tonnes) of carbon dioxide
equivalent (carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide
and hydrofluorocarbons) GHG emissions. The
table below sets forth details of the Group’s GHG

emissions by scope:

(i) BEREHK

HZE2022F12831BIEFE
7N &2 B 2 7% E Bh 2= 4 38,209.38 1F
(20214 : 53,508.62 1) — &1k Ti%
g2 (Catix Fi —&Et=
ARERKED) 5= REEHE
We PRI AEEIZREGEEHH

BERBYMES

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
HZE2022F HZE20214F
1283181 12A3181E
FE FE
Scope of GHG emissions Unit Emission Emission
BERBHEREER B BRE HmE
Scope 1 Direct emissions
EE1EEFER
Consumption of coal during the use  tCO,e 25,308.45 38,226.33
of coal-burning-boiler WA bikE =
KR SR 18 50 PR B AR R 0 PR OB A
Combustion of petrol and diesel for  tCO,e 97.82 64.44
mobile vehicles W tikE E
B B 0 R BB A
Scope 2 Indirect emissions
EE 2 BEEN
Purchased electricity tCO,e 12,629.05 14,932.53
SMNEE WA LiEE
Scope 3 Other indirect emissions
EE3HMEEREN
Paper waste disposal tCOse 0.96 0.96
ERRE WA LiREE
Water consumption tCOze 173.10 284.36
FKE WA LiEE
Business air travel tCOse - -
2 75 2= ik WA LiEE
Total GHG emissions tCO,e 38,209.38 53,508.62
BERBHREE WMoFBmEE
Intensity tCO,e/employee (note 3) 105.55 108.10
RnE Wo—E{mEE EE
(B EE3)

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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Notes:

(1)  GHG emission data is presented in terms of
carbon dioxide equivalent and are based on, but
not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards”
issued by the World Resources Institute and
the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the latest
released emission factors of China’s regional power
grid basis.

(2) The above emission data does not include the
removal of CO, contributed by recycling of paper.

(3) As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 362
(2021: 495) fulltime employees in total. The data is
also used for calculating other intensity data.

Scope 1 — Direct emissions

Scope 1 direct emissions are generated from the
use of the Group’s boilers and motor vehicles. The
Group is taking the proactive measures to reduce
these emissions and these measures are set out in
the section headed “A.1 Emissions” above.

Scope 2 - Indlirect emissions

Scope 2 indirect emissions are generated from the
use of purchased electricity. Measures to reduce
these emissions are set out in the section headed
“A.2 Use of resources” below.

Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions

Scope 3 other indirect emissions are generated
from paper consumption and water consumption.
The measures to reduce paper and water
consumption are set out in the section headed “A.2
Use of resources” below.

GHG emissions reduction target
To better manage the Group’s ESG performance,

the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for
GHG emissions as follows:

ff 5

(1) SBEREHEREIE IR S
EE22% W2RBREEETER
SRR 55 BT Mt R A AR R
BRIREESTENCEERE
BREZTE CESTHBEE
HE) - B AT BT EE A 0 () 2 1 3R
BoekERBRE M=
REBRESIEZERESD R
BHBHOPREGTHAEER
AR 2K o

() ALBREESBERE KRR
MEEN —SLIBERE °

(3) M2022412H318 " $‘§lﬂi
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GHG emissions Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
= R AR 2027 F R 2% 20224 EITH
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(iij) Sewage discharge (i) JZKBEH
AEBRABBEFEELTK-
BPIRIBE R T E KLY
PERIRE) R IR R BEINEE K - B RS
WO LBBIEPFIEEEKNESR
YE R R EE R LT A T BERR] —
B o NREIAE B S KEEMEE

Sewage is generated during the Group’s dyeing
process. Sewage is treated and discharged in
accordance with the Discharge Standard of Water
Pollutant for Dyeing and Finishing of Textile
Industry (%7 % 22 B T 3 K05 R M HE U %E)).

Measures to reduce hazardous substance in the

sewage generated during the dyeing process are 1% :
set out in the section headed “A.1 Emissions”
above. The table below sets forth details of the
Group's sewage discharge:
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
HZE2022F HZE20214F
1283181 12A3181E
FE FE
Sewage discharge Unit Intensity Intensity
S5 IR BERR B RE R
CODcr Mag/L 26.00 26.00
CODcr 257/
Ammonia nitrogen Mag/L 2.00 2.00
am Xy
Total nitrogen Mg/L 3.15 3.20
BAR =25,/ 7
Sewage discharge reduction target JTARBER IR

To better manage the Group’s ESG performance, REFMERAREEMNESGHEN
the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for AEBRERSKEMRENENL
sewage discharge as follows: BER - BT

Environmental indicators

Reduction target Baseline year Status

BRIREE W& ERFE IR
Sewage discharge Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
37K 2027 FRDR A 2% 2022 5 EITH
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(iv) Hazardous and non-hazardous waste

Hazardous waste of the Group includes waste
mineral oil, effluent and packaging materials
contaminated by dye. Non-hazardous waste of the
Group includes residual coal, sludge, paper and
packaging materials.

Apart from the above air pollutants and sewage
treatments, the Group has adopted practices in
relation to the separation, collection, storage
and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste in order to minimise environmental
impact. In particular, the Group has engaged
external service providers qualified by the relevant
environmental authorities of the PRC government
for (i) purification, transportation and disposal
of the sludge generated from waste water; and
(i) collection and disposal of the residual coal
produced from coal-burning boiler for further
recycling purpose.

The Group also adopted certain measures in
relation to consumption of paper and packaging
products including:

o Make use of computer system for
general transaction notification and data
transmission;

o Use both sides of paper as much as possible;

o Dispose of waste packaging boxes as
recyclable waste; and

o Increase the use of recycled paper.

During the two years ended 31 December 2022,
the Group did not receive any complaints or
warnings on disposal of its hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
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BEREZERY B IE

Hazardous and non-hazardous waste reduction
target

AR ER AREBMESGE R
AEEARATABEEREZFEEY
BERET2(LHEZ BEIT :

To better manage the Group’s ESG performance,
the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for
hazardous and non-hazardous waste as follows:

Environmental indicators Reduction target Baseline year Status

REREE B E ERFE 9711

Hazardous and Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
non-hazardous waste

BEERBEEEY 2027 F R 2% 2022 F HITH

The table below sets forth details of hazardous TRV AEENEENBEREE

and non-hazardous waste of the Group: MEEIE
For the For the
year ended year ended
Types of hazardous and 31 December 31 December
non-hazardous waste Unit 2022 2021
BZ20225F HE20214
12A31H1LE 12HA3181E
FEREEEEYESR B FE FE
Waste mineral oil tonnes 0.69 0.78
FETE 1) g
Effluent tonnes 0.41 0.46
5K 7]
Packaging materials contaminated tonnes 0.58 0.64
by dye 168
ERRDS R BRI
Residual coal tonnes 387.55 786.54
BERR s
Sludge tonnes 664.83 697.87
75 s
Paper and packaging materials tonnes 200.00 200.00
MR R BEM B 148
Total waste tonnes 1,254.06 1,686.29
BEZEY 7]
Intensity tonnes/employee 3.46 3.41
mE WES
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A.2 Use of resources

The Group strives to minimise the impact of its business
operations on the environment by adopting measures to
conserve energy during the manufacturing and dyeing.
Such measures include practices to limit electricity
and water wastage, guidelines on permitted usage of
electronic equipment by employees and utilisation of
equipment which is energy-efficient.

Energy management

The Group actively implements the concept of energy
saving, emission reduction, and maintain efficient
use of resources through following the methods and
measures for energy saving. Through practicing active
management control in its operations, the Group strives
to prevent pollution by using environmentally friendly
materials, producing green products, and implementing
technological innovations. The Group has also
implemented strategies to reduce the consumption of
petrol and diesel (see section headed “A.1 Emissions”)
and achieve electricity conservation and efficient
use of electricity. The strategies to achieve electricity
conservation and efficient use of electricity are as
follows:

° Conserve electricity and turn off unnecessary
lighting power;

e Minimise energy consumption when equipment is
not in production;

e Avoid premature start-up of equipment and idling
of equipment; and

e Assure the cooling effect of air conditioning
equipment by proper maintenance.
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The table below sets forth details of energy TEREINAEBERNELRBEREFE
consumption of the Group:

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

Types of energy consumption Unit 2022 2021

HZE20225 HZE 20214
1283181 12 A31 81k
RRHEES By F£E Fg

Direct energy consumption

ERERERER

— Petrol and diesel litre 40,600 26,295
— ) & g van

Intensity litre/employee 112.15 53.12
BE #EE

Indirect energy consumption

¥ 88 IR E A%

— Purchased electricity kilowatt hours 15,093,880 17,846,940
—HNEE S FRE

Intensity kilowatt hours/employee 41,695.80 36,054.42
BE TEE ES

Water management FKERE

The Group consumes water during its production RNEBEAEEBRRET RIFAREBERENK o
process and for office use. In addition to the aforesaid M bt 5 B BB TE SN - AEE IR
measures related to the discharge of sewage, the Group FETREEENEEHKNEE - I
also encourages all employees to develop a habit of LA T E RS

conscious water use and implements the following
water-saving measures:

e Formulate specific guidelines and measures for o RIBAKKRE - HIFTABHEL
water conservation based on the characteristics of F/KIES|I M &
water consumption; and

e Inspect and maintain water storage, distribution, o EHHEIK - BIKKRAKRMETT
and consumption facilities regularly, and promptly mE R AEE - BIREE R ER
solve problems identified to prevent wastage of By IEKEREDRE -

water resources.

During the two years ended 31 December 2022, the HE2022F12A3MBLEMEFE - K
Group did not encounter any issues in water sourcing. SEEKES A EERRRE -

EEERERAT — - —F4R 59
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The table below sets forth details of water consumption
of the Group:

TRINE AR KB RKFS

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

Unit 2022 2021

HZE20224 HZE2021 4

12H3181 12HA31H1k

By FE FE

Water tonnes 206,879 339,856

F7K A

Intensity tonnes/employee 571.49 686.58

BE W, &S

A.3 The environment and natural resources

The Group recognises its responsibility to minimise
the negative environmental impacts arising from its
business operations and it is committed to achieving
the goal of environmental sustainability. The Group
regularly assesses the environmental risks of its business
operations, adopts preventive measures to reduce
risks, and ensures compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The significant impact of activities of the
Group on the environment and the actions taken to
manage them are detailed in the sections headed “A.1
Emissions” and “A.2 Use of resources”.

A.4 Climate change

Management of the Group regularly monitors and
identifies climate change risk that is relevant to the
Group’s business operations. The climate-related risks
can be divided into two major categories: (i) risks related
to the transition to a lower-carbon economy and (ii)
risks related to the physical impacts of climate change.

(i) Transition risks

Transitioning to a lower-carbon economy may
entail extensive policy, legal, technology, and
market changes to address mitigation and
adaptation requirements related to climate
change. Depending on the nature, speed, and
focus of these changes, transition risks may
pose varying levels of financial and reputational
risk to the Group. Policy actions around climate
change could continue to evolve. Transition risks
related to policy change include any risk that the
environmental laws and regulations in China may
be amended from time to time and changes in
those laws and regulations may cause us to incur
additional costs in order to comply with the more
stringent rules.
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(i)  Physical risks

Physical risks may have financial implications for
the Group, such as direct damage to assets and
indirect impacts from supply chain disruption. The
Group's financial performance may be affected
by changes in water availability, sourcing, and
quality, or extreme temperature changes affecting
the premises, operations, supply chain, transport
needs, and employee safety. During the two
years ended 31 December 2022, the Group did
not encounter any difficulty in water availability,
sourcing and quality, and it did not encounter
any extreme temperature changes affecting the
premises, operations, supply chain, transport
needs, and employee safety that materially and
adversely affecting business operation. The
management will continue to assess and manage
the climate-related risks posed to the Group in the
future.

B. SOCIAL

B.1 Employment and labour practices

Employees are one of the Group’s important assets. The
Group provides a safe, fair and harmonious working
environment for its employees. By upholding values of
trust, respect and compassion, the Group believes that
it will boost employees’ sense of belonging and retain
top talents.

The Group has a recruitment policy in place. New
employees are recruited according to business needs
and upon request from relevant departments. The
Group generally recruits its workforce through online
platforms, regional job fairs and referrals by existing
employees. The candidates will be examined based
on their relevant experiences, skills, knowledge, and
integrity. According to the recruitment policy, the
Group encourages its employees to refer potential
candidates, rewards would be given if the candidates
are successfully employed.
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Each employee of the Group will receive an employee
handbook which stipulates the rights and obligations
of them. Basic rules such as dormitory rules, canteen
management rules, factory access rules and resignation
procedures will be included in the handbook and allow
the employees to have constant references.

The Group also regularly reviews and updates its
employment policy to ensure the applicability of its
terms and condition and compliance with the latest
labour laws and regulations. During the two years
ended 31 December 2022, the Group complied with
the relevant labour laws and regulations and did not
experience any significant labour disputes or any
disruption to business operations due to labour disputes.
In addition, the Group did not experience any difficulties
in the recruitment and retention of experienced core
staff or skilled personnel.

Employee benefits and welfare

The Group’s employees are generally remunerated by
way of fixed salary. The Group utilises an appraisal
system for its employees and considers the appraisal
results of individual employees when conducting their
salary review and determining the amounts of bonuses.
The team manager, person-in-charge of the factories
and human resources department will be responsible
for conducting performance appraisal. The Group's
employees are also entitled to a number of subsidies,
including but not limited to job-nature based subsidy,
performance-based bonus, share options and paid
leave.

During the two years ended 31 December 2022, the
Group made timely and adequate contributions to social
insurance and housing provident fund for its qualified
employees in the PRC; and mandatory provident fund
for its employees in Hong Kong, in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations.
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Labour standards

The Group’s recruitment policy sets out its recruitment
procedures and standard. The Group strictly follows and
regularly reviews such policy. The Group would carry
out background checks to authenticate information
provided by job applicants to confirm that they are
at least 18 years old. During the two years ended
31 December 2022, the Group did not have non-
compliance in relation to laws and regulations regarding
prevention of child and forced labour. The Group also
ensures that the working hours of its employees are
reasonable and comply with the relevant laws and
regulations and its employees would have sufficient rest
periods.

Equal opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunities for employees
in respect of recruitment, job advancement, training
and development, etc. Employees are not discriminated
against or deprived of such opportunities on the basis of
race, nationality, religion, physical condition, disability,
gender, pregnancy, sexual orientation, political status,
age and any other discrimination prohibited by
applicable law. Employees shall not act in discriminatory
manner or they can be subject to disciplinary actions.

(i)  Employee relations

The Directors consider that it is important to
maintain good relationship with employees.
The Group maintains regular communications
with its employees by arranging gatherings,
celebration activities and trainings. Through these
activities, the Group would collect feedback
from its employees on job satisfactions and
their expectations on the Group and would
implement appropriate strategies to improve the
work environment and its relationship with the
employees.
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(ii)

Employee health and safety

The Group’s principal raw materials are colouring
dyes and additives. Although they are not
hazardous chemicals as defined under the Catalog
of Hazardous Chemicals (2015) (/& & 1t & &
#£(2015) k%)), they can cause accidents and/
or adverse impact on the environment unless
they are properly stored and handled. In order to
ensure the safe storage of the dyes and additives
and to minimise the risk of the occurrences of
any accidents, the Group has adopted certain
measures in relation to the storage and handling
of dyes and additives including:

e  Storage facilities for dyes and additives must
be (i) in specialised space or storage rooms;
(i) managed by designated personnel; (iii)
labelled clearly; and (iv) kitted with sufficient
fire safety equipment;

o Personnel and departments which handle
different dyes and additives must strictly
comply with the relevant management
regulations, operational procedures and fire
safety guidelines; and

o Specialised containers used for the storage
of dyes and additives must be labelled
accordingly

The Group has established a series of safety
guidelines, rules and procedures for different
aspects of its production activities, including fire
safety, operation safety, warehouse safety, work
related injuries and emergency and evacuation
procedures to promote occupational health and
safety and to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. Also, the Group provides
suitable and necessary protection equipment to its
employees, i.e., earplugs, protective suits and mask
to ensure their safety during work. Furthermore,
the Group will inspect its production facilities from
time to time in order to ensure that such facilities
are safe for use.
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(i)

During the two years ended 31 December 2022,
the Group complied in all material respects with
relevant laws and regulations relating to health
and work safety and the Group did not record any
material accidents. The Group was not involved in
any material violations of health and safety laws
or regulations and it was not subject to material
litigations, claims, administrative sanctions or
penalties with regard to work safety and labour
related issues. There were also no work-related
fatalities or serious injuries, and no days were lost
due to work injury for the three years ended 31
December 2022.

Development and training

In order to increase the overall competitiveness
of workforce, the Group strives to ensure that its
employees are equipped with the required skill
and safety knowledge when performing their
duties. It has been the Group’s policy to provide
all-round training to its employees. Usually it
includes induction training with regard to factory
rules, production flow and use of machineries
which is held by manager or director; on-board
training on the usage of machines and safety
procedures required by its experienced senior staff
for one to two months; and sometimes education
opportunities depending on the job function of
the employees.

The Group will also arrange management skills
training to its potential mid-level staffs to increase
their ability on management. Newly recruited
employees are required to attend a safety training
course so that they can be familiarised with
the safety standards which they are required to
meet during production and in their handling of
production equipment. The Group will also hold
events occasionally for its employees or allow its
employees to join the trade fairs or seminars in
difference provinces or cities, in order for them to
catch up with market trend.
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Set forth below is the number and percentage AT Bz MRl K g B R &l 5 a9 A
of training hours completed by the Group’s EEEE Tk IE IR E R R A
employees by gender and employee category: DL

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZ2022F 128310 LEE

66

% of training

hours by
employee
Employee category Male Female Total category
RESEHNE D
#9153 31 B B
EEER S keg et B
Training hours  Training hours  Training hours
3% A R 2L 3% 3 R 2 3% ) B B
Senior management 885 198 1,083 7.9%
SARETEE
Middle management 961 293 1,254 9.1%
hREERE
Other employees 7,308 4,145 11,453 83.1%
HifE 8
Total 9,154 4,636 13,790 100.0%
st
% of training hours
by gender 66.4% 33.6% 100.0%

A BBl B9 45 R I B
HED
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BZ20215 128318 LEE

% of training

hours by
employee
Employee category Male Female Total category
ZEBEMNE D
B 1 35 I A 25
‘mEER 5 % wEEt MWEDH
Training hours Training hours Training hours
s SIS B 31 8
Senior management 648 136 784 9.4%
SREEE
Middle management 792 216 1,008 12.0%
hREERE
Other employees 4,644 1,940 6,584 78.6%
Hibg s
Total 6,084 2,292 8,376 100.0%
Bt
% of training hours
by gender 72.6% 27.4% 100.0%
B4 BB 5 49 15 35 5| B
WEDE
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 358
(2021: 495) and 4 (2021: nil) full-time employees
employed for the Group’s business operations
in the PRC and HK, respectively. The Group had
no part-time employees. Set forth below are the
distribution of the Group’s employees as at 31
December 2022 by gender and age group:

(v) (EE S

M2022%12A318  AEED R
3584 (20214 1 495%) k4%
(0215 ) 2B EEXENRSE
AEERPEARBEBNER - K&
EMERBES - TXHIAEE
20224912 A31 BRI R ik

MBI DNRE DM

Number of

Employees Percentage
Category o] EEAH" Bok
By gender BRI & D
Male Sk 215 59.4%
Female ik 147 40.6%
By age groups RERARSE D
30 or below 30 A T 71 19.6%
31-40 31-407% 118 32.6%
41-50 41-507% 96 26.5%
51 or above 51553 A E 77 21.3%

The table below sets forth the staff turnover rate
of the Group classified by different categories:

TREHNAEB IR RERRE D H

BERALE:

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

BZ20224 HE20214

12A31H 12A318

Category P LEE IEFE
By gender B BIE 5

Male B 29% 5%

Female 7 35% 12%

By age groups REWRHAR B D

30 or below 30BR AT 35% 5%

31-40 31-407% 16% 7%

41-50 41-50 5% 21% 8%

51 or above 518 A 57% 10%
By geographical region &R @& 5

China i 32% 8%

Hong Kong BE - -
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B.2 Operating practices B.2 & E 18

(i)  Supply chain management (i) HREHFEE

Most of the Group’s major suppliers are based in
the PRC. The Group relies on the support from a
wide variety of suppliers to provide raw materials
and production equipment to carry out its business
operations. It is very important for the Group to
choose its suppliers carefully as such decision
would directly affect the quality of its products
and services.

The Group expects its suppliers to uphold the
environmental, social and governance principles
that the Group has adopted into the management
of its business operations. In order to ensure that
the components and raw materials meet the
requisite safety and quality standards, the Group
adopts stringent criteria in supplier selection
(including but not limited to whether they provide
high quality raw materials, whether they maintain
a high standard on environmental protection
and comply with relevant laws on environmental
issues, whether price is comparable to market rate
and location of their factories) and continuously
monitors existing suppliers on an annual basis,
based on criteria such as product quality, product
defect ratio, delivery punctuality ratio and
responsiveness.

Whether the supplier will continue to be included
in the Group’s list of approved suppliers depends
on the marks it achieved under annual evaluation.
The awareness of environmental protection is
one of the key criteria for us to evaluate the
suppliers. The Group highly recognises suppliers
that can provide international recognitions
and certificates, including but not limited to
(i) ISO 14001, recognising the environmental
management system in place, (ii) Bluesign®
certificate, recognising textile chemical providers
and the products are responsible, sustainable and
is greener textile chemicals for the environment,
or (iii) Standard 100 of OEKO-Tex® recognition,
mainly on product safety, which also attest to
socially and environmentally sound conditions in
production facilities.

KEBRSHFEHRERLANF
CAEBIKER S HIERM RS -
IR HAREBEO RN RAEER
e REEEHERIAKEMNS
ERER ARBABREEERY
BERLRENEE -

AEBERERERHETAREESR
BELERBIZT ARAERE -
HERERRA - RERTIM R
RYBTAMENREREER
% SR BRI B R PR
BE(BRBRETRMMZERZMH
=mERME - BERFEEKFR
B IR & 8 T EIR IR AR R A
7 HERETAMENELE
REBEMRER)  AEFHERE
RRANHER REERERE
B EmREE XEERHLEER
FESIRES -

HEBMRTEBIN AR EBNK
REREREERRTEREE
STETRES D EME  RIRE
BEMAEHENNBRIZE
— o NEBE S E R RE IR B
R RFENHER  REETR
RO R A $IERREIREEZAISO
14001 - (VRO 4L 2 R ER
FEMRABET AHERARE
R AT BY 4 41k 2 fn B9 Bluesign® 3R
FORMEEASRERLEN
FRAEERBLE RRERITRR
#) OEKO-Tex®1Z £ 100 °
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If the aggregate marks of the supplier under the
Group’s annual evaluation (i) equals to or is more
than 80 marks, then the supplier will remain in our
list of approved suppliers for the following year;
(i) less than 80 marks, the Group would ask the
suppliers to make corresponding amendments and
conduct the evaluation again after three months. If
its marks under the evaluation equals to or is more
than 80 marks, the supplier will remain in the list
of approved suppliers for the following year; or (i)
equals to or less than 70 marks, the supplier will
be removed from the list of approved suppliers.

The number of the Group’s suppliers by
geographical locations were as follows:

Geographical locations of the Group’s suppliers

AEEHERNLENE

M EREASENFETE T
BMEBSHFEREmMN805 - Al
ZER R F G EED) A
BmARE:()VERSH  AEFE
TR EEE L AENRE W=
EABBIETS - MEEFETS
DERHSH80D 1 FE ok F
BB N HEEEZE ;i)
ZRHER70D ZEEFEH
ZERERRESR -

BB ES DA K EHERE
Bann :

Number of suppliers
HEBHE

For the year ended
31 December 2022
BZ2022%
12A3MBLEE

The PRC 395
ail=
Hong Kong 1
S
Total 396
st
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*

(i) Product responsibility

Product assurance and recall

The Group believes that its reputation for product
quality, timely delivery and customer service has
contributed significantly to the success of its
business operations.

The Group adopts strict quality control measures
which includes four stages, (i) initial quality check
for raw materials, (i) checking against prototype
of greige fabrics according to the specification
from customers, such as pattern and dimension
of our lace and obtain approval from customers
before bulk production; (iii) inspecting finished
lace against any snagged yarns to ensure the
number of weaving defects is below the agreed
level and (iv) conduct various types of test to
ensure appropriate elasticity of the products. In the
event of anomalies discovered during inspection,
the production staff would instantly report to the
manager of the quality control department or to
the general manager of the Group, so that the
problem can be solved as quickly as possible.

The Group is currently using the total quality
management system which can monitor the
quality of products in an all-rounded respective.
The Group’s quality management system complies
with the standard of GB/T 19001-2016/
ISO9001:2015 Quality Management Systems
Requirements and the Group was awarded a
certificate for the design, and production of warp
knitted lace (ST 45 4C 4R 12 ). Also, the Group fully
complies with domestic industry standards such as
FZ/T 73027- 2016 Textile Industry Standard (Warp
Knitted Lace) of the PRC* (HP & A R H AN B 47 4
1TEIZAE (ST EHRTE#2)). The Group has also
been accredited with, among others,
IS09001:2015 for quality management system for
its design and production of lace and OEKO-TEX®
Confidence in Textiles STANDARD 100, which
shows that the quality of the Group’s products can
meet the international stringent requirements on
product safety. In respect of dyeing services, the
Group has obtained 1SO14001:2015 for its
environmental management system.

For identification purpose only

(i) EmEF

EEop (RAZH 4[]

AEEBE  AEEREREE
BRI REPRENEEH XK
RINERRZ

REBRIESNE S ETEE
R BENERE ()RR
REERE  (NVERRELEERR
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SRELMRA - WIS B FHE
(i EERKmER A TR
MR FRR AN B R BE R 9 E K
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mEBEEBYE - WNRBBEF
BMBEEZE  £EASSHER
TR B A IR B AN B AR R
iRoOAERIRE MR -
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B 8B IR RS GB/T 19001-
2016/1SO9001 : 2015 1Z # & &
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The Group also implements a series of repair and
maintenance procedures of its machinery and
equipment. The production team conducts basic
routine checks on machinery and equipment
regularly and detailed checks annually. The
production team maintains detailed record on
repair and maintenance work and the Group has
its our own hardware warehouse to increase the
efficiency of repairing.

During the two years ended 31 December 2022,
the Group did not have material non-compliance
with laws and regulations in relation to product
safety and receive any product return request, nor
had it received any complaint from its customers
on the quality of products, and no customers
made any material warranty claims against the
Group.

Intellectual property rights and privacy protection

To protect its intellectual property rights, the
Group has entered into confidentiality and
noncompete agreements with members of
senior management, employees of the design
and development team and technical support
team and/or other employees who have access
to secrets or confidential information of the
Group. The confidentiality and non-compete
agreements prohibit such members of senior
management and/or the relevant employees from
(i) disclosing confidential information of the Group
such as technology know-how and trade secrets
acquired or generated during the course of their
employment with the Group; and (ii) engaging
in activities and/or business that may potentially
compete with the Group.

The Group has also established appropriate
guidelines for its employees to regulate the use
of personal information, safeguard confidential
information and avoid leakage of customers’ and
suppliers’ privacy.

During the two years ended 31 December
2022, the Group was not aware of any material
infringement of any intellectual property rights nor
material breach of data privacy.
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(i) REFRREF

(iii) Anti-fraud and anti-corruption

The Group has implemented guides, policies
and procedures regarding anti-fraud and anti-
corruption for its employees to follow. A reporting
mechanism is in place for any fraud/corruption
or suspected fraudulent/corruption behaviour.
Any contravention to these guides and policies
identified with solid evidence, the Group will
terminate the engagement with the contravened
parties immediately and if needed, report to
relevant regulatory authorities. The Group also
provides trainings to its employees from time to
time to ensure that they comply and familiar with
the guides, policies and procedures regarding anti-
fraud and anti-corruption.

During the two years ended 31 December 2022,
the Group complied with all applicable laws on
prohibiting corruption and bribery and there
was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its
employees.

Whistleblowing policy

The Group has implemented whistleblowing
policy to provide a well-defined and accessible
channel for reporting fraud, corruption, dishonest
practices, or other similar matters and guidance
on how an investigation would be initiated upon
receiving a complaint. The policy also protects
employees who report fraudulent activities in good
faith and reasonable belief. A whistleblowing
officer is elected to ensure that any reported case
is dealt with in an expedited manner.

Upon receiving the complaint, the Board
decides the method of investigation, which may
involve appointing an external consultant for
assessment. The Board will monitor and review the
effectiveness of the whistleblowing policy from
time to time.
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B.3 Community investment

The Group acknowledges corporate social responsibility
and allocates resources to satisfy the needs of the
community. In achieving its social corporate goal in
volunteering in the community, the Group has actively
endeavoured in funding the development of less
developed cities in the PRC by making donations to
various charitable organisations occasionally.

During the two years ended 31 December 2022, the
Group focused on environmental protection as well as
cultural and sport promotion. Going forward, the Group
will continue to focus on community needs and increase
its investment in community. The Group has contributed
a reasonable amount of time to environmental
protection and cultural and sport promotion.
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders of the
Company the annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 4 January 2019. The
Company'’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 13 January 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
provides dyeing services, sale and manufacture of lace as well as
sales of footwear product to its customers. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW, FUTURE PROSPECT AND
DEVELOPMENT

The review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 and the discussion on the Group’s future business
development are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISK FACTORS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The following sets out the principal risks and uncertainties
encountered by the Group in its business operations:

The Group as a dyeing service provider has been categorised
as one of the heavily polluting industries. Any failure to
comply with environmental regulations would expose the
Group to penalties, fines, suspensions or actions in other
forms.

The Group’s business of providing dyeing services has been
categorised as one of the heavily polluting industries and its
operations are subjected to the environmental protection laws
and regulations promulgated by the PRC government authorities.
These laws and regulations require the Group to adopt effective
measures to control and properly dispose of waste water and
other environmental pollutants. The Group could be exposed to
penalties, fines, suspensions or actions in other forms if we fail to
comply with these laws and regulations.
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The Group derives a significant portion of revenue from
customers in Fujian, Guangdong and Hong Kong. Failure
to retain business relationships with existing customers
or secure new business may materially affect the Group'’s
results and financial performance.

The Group's revenue is concentrated in Fujian, Guangdong and
Hong Kong. The Group mainly provides lace manufacture, dyeing
services and footwear trading business on an order-by-order
basis, there is no assurance that our business relationship with our
customers in Fujian, Guangdong and Hong Kong will continue
in the future. The Group’s results of operations, profitability and
liquidity may be materially and adversely affected if it is unable to
secure new orders from existing customers in Fujian, Guangdong
and Hong Kong or fail to procure similar level of business from
new customers from other cities or countries on comparable
commercial terms to offset the loss of revenue from customers in
Fujian, Guangdong and Hong Kong.

The Group’s business depends on a stable and adequate
supply of raw materials and the Group does not enter into
any long-term agreements with suppliers, fluctuation in the
price of raw materials may affect the Group’s cost of sales
and adversely affect business operation and profitability.

Since the Group does not enter into any long-term agreement
with its raw material suppliers, if any interruption, reduction or
termination of the supply of raw materials occurs, or the price of
the raw material increase due to an increase in demand, the Group
has to bear the risk of such fluctuations and may not be able to
shift such risk to its customers.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group does not have any important events occurring after the
year ended 31 December 2022.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, sales to the
Group’s largest customer and five largest customers accounted
for approximately 38.2% (2021: approximately 9.4%) and
approximately 47.6% (2021: approximately 21.0%) of the total
revenue, respectively.

Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2022 accounted
for approximately 29.3% (2021: approximately 16.0%) and
approximately 39.5% (2021: approximately 46.0%) of the total
purchases, respectively.
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None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2022.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains good relationships with employees,
customers and suppliers by making frequent communications with
them to understand their needs. The Group provides safe work
environment, competitive remuneration, good welfare benefits
and continuous training for its employees. During the year ended
31 December 2022, there were no material disputes between the
Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, the Group has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
The Group also complied with (i) the requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") for the disclosure
of information and corporate governance; and (i) the ordinances
relating to occupational safety for the interest of its employees.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment
and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.
Details of such are set out in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 103 to 106. The directors do
not recommend the payment of dividend for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: nil).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are
set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no bank
borrowings.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any
assets pledged as securities.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of determining the shareholders’ eligibility to
attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to
be held on 25 May 2023 (Thursday), the register of members of
the Company will be closed from 22 May 2023 (Monday) to 25
May 2023 (Thursday), both days inclusive. The latest time to lodge
transfer documents for registration will be at 4:30 p.m. on 19
May 2023 (Friday). During the above closure period, no transfer of
shares will be registered. To be eligible to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on 19 May 2023 (Friday).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of this annual report. The distributable reserves
of the Company are set out in note 31(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group made donations of RMB200,000 during the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out in the section
headed “Five-Year Financial Summary” of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing (Chairman) (appointed on 30 September 2022)
Mr. Lin Mingiang

Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin (appointed on 30 September 2022)

Ms. Jian Xuegen (appointed on 30 September 2022)

Mr. Lin Chaowei (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Mr. Lin Chaowen (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Mr. Lin Bingzhong (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Mr. Wei Cunzhuo (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Ms. Lin Lili (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chow Kit Ting

Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin (appointed on 30 September 2022)
Mr. Chan Hoi Shan (appointed on 30 September 2022)

Mr. Sheng Zijiu (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Mr. Yip Koon Shing (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Mr. Wong Chun Sek Edmund (resigned on 30 September 2022)

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing, Mr. Larry
Stuart Torchin, Ms. Jian Xuegen, Mr. Chow Kit Ting, Dr. Chiu Kwok
Hung, Justin and Mr. Chan Hoi Shan will retire and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the members of the Board and relationship
between members of the Board are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors” in this annual report.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Group’s employee benefit expenses and manpower
service expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 (including
the emoluments of the Directors and senior management and the
five highest paid individuals of the Group) are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The
emoluments payable to the Directors are determined according
to various factors, including but not limited to their performance,
market conditions and the financial conditions of the Group.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, no Directors have
waived any emoluments.

DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing, Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin, Ms. Jian
Xuegen, Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin and Mr. Chan Hoi Shan
has signed a letter of appointment with our Company up to
a term of three years commencing from 30 September 2022.
Each of Mr. Lin Mingiang and Mr. Chow Kit Ting has signed a
letter of appointment with our Company up to a term of three
years commencing from 16 December 2020 and Mr. Chow Kit
Ting renewed his appointment on 30 September 2022. These
appointments may be terminated in accordance with the terms of
the letter of appointment.

Apart from the foregoing, no Directors proposed for re-election
at the AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment or
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Laws of
the Cayman Islands) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2022, interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or have been entered in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or otherwise have been notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

(i) Interest in the ordinary shares of the

EERESITRAERAQARE
AHEBEZENRD - HERORE
ERENEERAR

B2022F 128318 ARRIZEZER&EEITEHA
BRARBKEFMAEEE (FERESHNMPE
IRBIEXVER) R - MR REEERES
EREZELFNHEKRMNEXVIFETIRSD A
AN RBRIAESSAR (BEREESRR
HE GO B BIEXHEEESRBHEE WD LK
B) HIRIEE S R EEPIE 352 GBH AR R A]
FENELMOES AR  REZEESTRA
MERABI RS ABNT

() RERABEBERNER

Company
Percentage of
Number of shareholding in
shares held the Company
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Approximate)
BFEH RADRH
BROEE BREDL
EEpE B REEHE (Btzt1) (BL49)
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation and 819,000,000 (L) 65.0%
beneficial owner
BB (HE2) REEEREREERER A
Mr. Lin Mingiang (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Interest held jointly with other persons
MEBR KA (Mt 3) R EE R

BEAMA T KRFAES
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(ii) Interest in the ordinary shares of an
associated corporation

(i) REBEZEEERNER

Percentage of
shareholding in

Number of  the associated

Name of associated Capacity/nature shares held corporation

Name of Director corporation of interest (Note 1) (Approximate)
BEH RAEBEERN

R EE BRESLL

= o HEEE BB B EEEER (Kizt1) (BL49)
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing Glorious Way Investments Beneficial owner (L) 100%

Limited (“Glorious Way")

BB KEREBRAF(TRE]) E=mEEA
Notes:

1.

2.

The letter “L" denotes long position of the shares.

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing (i) directly and beneficially holds 1.98% of
the shares of the Company; and (i) beneficially owns 100% of
the issued shares of Glorious Way, which in turn holds 63.02%
of the shares of the Company. Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing is a director
of Glorious Way. Therefore, Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing is deemed,
or taken to be interested in the shares of the Company held
by Glorious Way for the purpose of the SFO and in aggregate
holds 65.0% of the shares of the Company.

These shares are held by Deyong Investment Co., Ltd (“Deyong
Investment”). Deyong Investment is an investment holding
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI")
and is owned by Mr. Lin Mingiang, as to 60%. Mr. Lin
Mingiang is a director of Deyong Investment. Therefore, Mr. Lin
Mingiang is deemed, or taken, to be interested in the shares of
the Company held by Deyong Investment for the purposes of
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had registered any interests or short positions
in any shares and underlying shares in, and debentures of, the
Company or any associated corporations as at 31 December 2022,
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO
or the Model Code.

1.

2.

[LIRERZEATRBOOER -

BEERENEERESEALAR.98%
BH: RNWNEZSHEBELEDETRG
100% @ i & EFH5 B AR AE63.02% B H o 52
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HERY  BLELEHB BB EREE
BN ARRIRMNIPEREEZ  WAHRE
BARRARE65.0% B °

#% % B% 15 A Deyong Investment Co., Ltd
(I Deyong Investment ]) #5 & ° Deyong
Investment AN A BEXZES ((KBR X
BED MR IHBREZERAT  AMKE
RSB 60% ° MR R % & & Deyong
Investment®EE - It - BIEZFHFLKBHE
& - MR 38 5 & 3 AR B 3k & {E 74 Deyong
Investment T KR A BIRR () R B #E 25 ©
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director of
the Company or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2022, the
following corporation/persons (other than the interests of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company as disclosed above)
had interests of 5% or more in the issued shares which fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

EERERODVEREENZH

BRAFmMAAHESEI  RNEE20225612HA31H
FFEREEAFHRBEAOTMAKRE  BERAR
ARIEMEEREES BNRBAREKF T
AR EREARR AR DR EEEMESF =S
MR BENREBITETMZERER  BARA] -
HAER A R s T B A R R S T W 2k
BEARARES BB AR A S EMEAmER
B KEBESH (RIEEEE) MESHE -

FERREHEMATRERTREG
REBEROTEANEER KR

MEEE - R2022F 128318 - TFLEE A
T(EXFEENARRESIESTHAEER
BroM) A A DT D EITID R 5% A EaviERR
BREEHMHEEMNEXVEF2RINEBIEX
ARANRAE LB ZPTIE TR KALARRRIRIEZE
H N HIE GBI 336 IKBTF EME R

Percentage of
Number of shareholding in

shares held the Company

Name Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Approximate)
hiaF: NN

BHER ERBESL

HE BB B ERmiE (Htez1) (BE#)
Glorious Way (Note 2) Beneficial owner 794,000,000 (L) 63.02%
1B (H7iF2) EnEAA 794,000,000 (L) 63.02%
Ms. Wu Chor Har (Note 3) Interest of spouse 819,000,000 (L) 65.0%
A E L (HiE3) B (B 1 = 819,000,000 (L) 65.0%
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Percentage of
Number of shareholding in
shares held the Company

Name Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Approximate)
RAEQTH
BHoOER ERESL
mE AR B, EntE (Mat1) (1E49)
Deyong Investment (Note 4) Beneficial owner 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Deyong Investment (/#7:£ 4) BEnEAA 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Mr. Lin Chaoji (Note 5) Interest held jointly with other persons 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
MEAE S & (M 5E5) HEM T HEFEER 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Mr. Lin Bingzhong (Note 5) Interest held jointly with other persons 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
MR B E (M FE5) HEMATHFAFEER 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Mr. Lin Chaowei (Note 5) Interest held jointly with other persons 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
WMERE S & (M 5E5) HEMATHFAFEER 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Mr. Lin Chaowen (Note 5) Interest held jointly with other persons 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
WMEA S & (1 5E5) HEMATHFAFEER 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Ms. Lin Yueyun (Note 6) Interest of spouse 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
WAZEL L (Hite) B (B fE & 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Ms. Jiang Yanyun (Note 7) Interest of spouse 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
BWELt(WiE7) B (B fE & 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Ms. Zheng Xiugin (Note 8) Interest of spouse 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
BHERZ L (HiE8) B (B fE & 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Ms. Lin Yunzhen (Note 9) Interest of spouse 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
MEE 2+ (K1779) B (B fE & 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Ms. Lin Aimei (Note 10) Interest of spouse 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
WEEL L (HiF10) BB 2 126,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Notes: Wit -
1. The letter “L" denotes long position of the shares. 1 [URKRZBALTREMOIEA -

2. Glorious Way is an investment holding company incorporated in the 2. %1§%%§§ﬁ?g§%iﬂﬁﬁﬁm&ﬁgﬁﬁ57 ’
BVI and is wholly owned by Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing. MEREREDERESR

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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3. Ms. Wu Chor Har is the spouse of Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing. Therefore, Ms.
Wu Chor Har is deemed to be, or taken to be, interested in the shares
of the Company which Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing is interested in for the
purposes of the SFO.

4. Deyong Investment is an investment holding company incorporated
in the BVI and is owned by Mr. Lin Mingiang, Mr. Lin Bingzhong, Mr.
Lin Chaoji, Mr. Lin Chaowei and Mr. Lin Chaowen as to 60%, 11.6%,
10.54%, 9.22% and 8.64%, respectively.

5. On 31 December 2019, Mr. Lin Mingiang, Mr. Lin Bingzhong, Mr.
Lin Chaoji, Mr. Lin Chaowei and Mr. Lin Chaowen entered into an
acting in concert agreement to acknowledge and confirm (among
other things) that they are parties acting in concert during the three
years ended 31 December 2019 and six months ended 30 June
2020 and that to continue to act in the same manner in the Group
after the Company’s listing. As such, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Lin
Mingiang, Mr. Lin Bingzhong, Mr. Lin Chaoji, Mr. Lin Chaowei and
Mr. Lin Chaowen are deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company held by Deyong Investment.

6. Ms. Lin Yueyun is the spouse of Mr. Lin Mingiang. Therefore, Ms. Lin
Yueyun is deemed to be, or taken to be, interested in the shares of
the Company which Mr. Lin Mingiang is interested in for the purposes
of the SFO.

7. Ms. Jiang Yanyun is the spouse of Mr. Lin Bingzhong. Therefore, Ms.
Jiang Yanyun is deemed to be, or taken to be, interested in the shares
of the Company which Mr. Lin Bingzhong is interested in for the
purposes of the SFO.

8. Ms. Zheng Xiugin is the spouse of Mr. Lin Chaoji. Therefore, Ms.
Zheng Xiugin is deemed to be, or taken to be, interested in the shares
of the Company which Mr. Lin Chaoji is interested in for the purposes
of the SFO.

9. Ms. Lin Yunzhen is the spouse of Mr. Lin Chaowei. Therefore, Ms. Lin
Yunzhen is deemed to be, or taken to be, interested in the shares of
the Company which Mr. Lin Chaowei is interested in for the purposes
of the SFO.

10.  Ms. Lin Aimei is the spouse of Mr. Lin Chaowen. Therefore, Ms. Lin
Aimei is deemed to be, or taken to be, interested in the shares of the
Company which Mr. Lin Chaowen is interested in for the purposes of
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company
has not been notified of any other relevant interests or short
positions in the issued share capital of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director or his/her connected entity has or had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent company was a party subsisting during or
at the end of the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST

No contracts of significance were entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and any controlling shareholders
or any of its subsidiaries or any contracts of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
any controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors, controlling shareholders or any of their
respective associates has engaged in or has any interest in any
business that competes or may compete with the business of the
Group, or has any other conflict of interest with the Group during
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 16 December 2020 (the “Adoption
Date”), which become effective on 13 January 2021.

(i) Purpose of Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and
retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentive to eligible participants; and to promote the success
of the business of the Group.

EENRG  REHSHNER
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(i) Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms
as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-
time), director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any
substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or
service provider of the Group, options to subscribe at a price
calculated in accordance with paragraph (iii) below for such
number of shares as it may determine in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme. The basis of eligibility of
any participant to the grant of any option shall be determined
by the Board (or as the case may be, the independent
nonexecutive Directors) from time to time on the basis of his/
her contribution or potential contribution to the development
and growth of the Group.

(iii) Exercise price of share option

The exercise price of share option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the
Board and shall be at least highest of: (i) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant of the option; (ii) the average
of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and
(iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the
option.

(iv) Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. The amount payable by the grantee of an option to
our Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an
option is HKD1.00.
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(v) Maximum number of shares that may be

issued

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of our Company must not exceed 30%
of the shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of our Company if this will result in such
30% limit being exceeded.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme, the maximum numbers of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other schemes shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date (i.e. 126,000,000
shares) unless approved by the shareholders of the Company.

The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed at any
time by obtaining approval of the Company’s shareholders
in general meeting provided that the total number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. Options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or
any other share option schemes of the Company) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10%
limit. A circular must be sent to the Company’s shareholders
containing the information as required under the Listing Rules
in this regard.

(vi) Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in general
meeting in the manner stipulated in the Listing Rules, the
maximum entitlement for each eligible participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.
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(vii) Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as
the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years
from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof.

(viii) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
ten years commencing on the Adoption Date and shall expire
at the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated
earlier by our Shareholders in general meeting. As at 31
December 2022, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately seven years and 11.5 months.

For further details on the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme, please refer to Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

As of 31 December 2022 and the date of this annual report,
no share options had been granted or agreed to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme. As a result, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
as of the date of this annual report was 126,000,000,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as of the Adoption Date.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules entered by
the Group with World Mart Limited (Bt B3 & [R 2 &)), during the
Reporting Period with a term of one year, were exempted from
reporting, disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules. Details were disclosed in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group's related party transactions during the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of these related party
transactions are connected transactions which are subject to the
reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as of the date
of this report, the Company has maintained the public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

REVIEW OF AUDITED ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group's audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. All Directors have confirmed that, following
specific enquiry by the Company, they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the Reporting
Period.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM IPO

Details of the use of the proceeds from IPO are set out on page 14
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the
Company.

By order of the Board

Deyun Holding Ltd.

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

*  For identification purpose only
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To the Shareholders of Deyun Holding Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Deyun Holding Ltd. (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 103 to 176, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e  the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Revenue recognition for manufacturing of lace, provision of
dyeing services and sales of shoes

o Impairment of contract assets, trade and bills receivables

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEH

Revenue recognition for manufacturing of lace,
provision of dyeing services and sales of shoes

BUETLIE  RRUABIRG LHEHE WS HER

Refer to Notes 2.20 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRERATIEREMFE2.20 %5 ¢

During the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue of
approximately RMB134,155,000 was recognised in the
Group's consolidated income statement.

HE202F12A31BILFE - E£ENGEERERE
MR 4 AR % 134,155,000 7T °

Revenue from manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing
services is recognised over the period of the contract using
the input method. For contracts in progress at the period
end, the Group applies a percentage of completion to the
contracted price and the percentage is determined with
reference to the actual costs incurred and the total estimated
costs on completion for the services.

FETEE R HABRRE WU ERN G LB AR AR
/ﬂﬁn/uwﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁgmﬂﬂﬂm  BEBEYHANERK

BEIBAN L MZANLNE2EEELANERKAR
N ARG ER T E AR BRREEE -

EEETTEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWEFNMEEREENEE

Our audit procedures performed on revenue recognition for
manufacturing of lace, provision of dyeing service and sales
of shoes included:

ﬁff’ﬁ?ﬁ%‘zﬁ?ﬁ% hEH R
EITHMEFRFEE

RERD R EERE WS R

. We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls
in respect of revenue recognition for manufacturing
of lace, provision of dyeing service and sales of shoes
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatements by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

e WMBEEMEFTHETEUNEEREMERRBREZE
KE - HMTE FELAAEREERELE 'H
RERBRIFEE R WS ERNRBSIES - W
BERERRANE SRR

e  We discussed with management and evaluated
whether the method used by management to estimate
revenue in relation to contracts in progress at period
end is reasonable;

o RMUEBIRENwmILAT 1&%?
%ﬁ”&ﬁlﬁﬁ}ﬂiﬁﬁ E’]E/“ZXED 51

HIRfErEZS

e We assessed management’s identification of
performance obligations and the recognition of revenue
by examining the sales contracts with customers and
with reference to our understanding of the client’s
business and industry practices;

e BEREFFNHEEANILZERMNYEFLEHKN
THRETEREN BMFHEEEBIRRNBOERMER
R

e  \We tested, on a sample basis, revenue transactions
recognised during the year to supporting documents,
e.g. sales contracts, delivery documents and customers’
acknowledgement of sales;

o HMBAFAFAREEXH (MHEHEEH  REX
HREFPHEERE) PHERNKERS
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Revenue from the sales of shoes transferred at a point
in time is recognised when the control of the products
has transferred, being when the Group has delivered the
products to the customers, and the customers have full
discretion over the products.

RE-REHEENHEERBUERNERZEHEDHE
BER B BEXEECSERRNER MEFHEMRT
2B R R

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of revenue
transactions occurred and hence, significant audit effort was
spent in auditing this area.

BPEEETENRAERMEENKRER HEHEENX -
Hit - Bttt T EAERRERAER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWEFNMEERRENSE

e For revenue from manufacturing of lace and provision
of dyeing services, we tested, on a sample basis, the
actual costs incurred including direct material costs,
direct labour costs and overhead costs to underlying
supporting documents and checked the calculation of
the revenue recognition based on the contracted prices
and the total costs incurred on completion; and

o HRELETEIE RIRHELERS W - BB
HEESXHPRNCELERKA  BRERDH
A BEERBTHRARERKA  WIRRAHER
RERFEANRNBEZERSRANFETR
K

For revenue from sales of shoes, we tested, on a
sample basis, revenue transactions from the sales of
shoes recognised before and after the financial year-
end to delivery documents, e.g. delivery notes and
shipping documents to determine whether revenue
from the sales of shoes had been recognised in the
appropriate financial period.

o HRHEEERUE  BAMEAAREXH (WRE
BREBER) PORVRFEAERAZRI R &M
BAHEERNWER S UETERHEREL
BREE & W B T PATERR

Based upon the above procedures performed, we considered
that the recognition of revenue from manufacturing of lace,
provision of dyeing service and sales of shoes was supported
by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEH

Impairment of contract assets, trade and bills
receivables

BHEERERESBEFEARERRERE

Refer to Notes 3.1.3, 4.1 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BLEGRAUBEHREMFES 1.3 4.1%20¢

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying value of the Group’s
gross contract assets, trade and bills receivables amounted to
RMB15,760,000, against which the provision for impairment
of contract assets, trade and bills receivables amounted to
RMB3,425,000 was made.

MR2022F 128318 BEXEEMNENEE BEHEKK
HREREBRABMREERSAR 15,760,000 7T + 5
IFRANEE BZRUFERERERNRERG
AR 3,425,0007T °

Management applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all contract assets, trade and bills
receivables. In measuring the credit loss rates, management
assess whether there are any significant changes in payment
profiles and risk of default, and takes into consideration
the current and forward-looking information, to adjust the
expected losses rates.

ERERAETEMBHRELANEIRNBC AT ERS
EEEE ETHMEANEE HSRUEBEREEE
BERFENRREEEREE HEFEEREE &
EEFMNREANENERRSEEEMNERES X
ERERMATRMEER  AREEMEEE -

EEETTEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWEFNMEEREENEE

Our audit procedures performed on impairment of contract
assets, trade and bills receivables included:

BAMENEERERE S EUERE MR BB EN
ETHMETREF B

e We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment processes for
determining the provision for impairment of contract
assets, trade and bills receivables and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and the
judgement involved in determining the assumptions to
be applied;

e HEMTHMEREETANEE ZEFHRUFEBENE
WERERERENABEZERFGERF  WEEE
BREFTEEENEEREERERNBRRES R
HYHIET - FEUL R R ERR A AER R

e We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of provision for impairment of contract assets,
trade and bills receivables, by reviewing receivables
settlement records, to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

s HMBLTESBUFALETS  BUFEHAW
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEH

We focused on auditing the impairment of contract
assets, trade and bills receivables because the estimation
of loss allowance is subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the impairment
assessment of contract assets, trade and bills receivables is
considered significant due to the subjectivity of significant
assumptions used, and significant judgements involved in
selecting data.

HABZERNERANEERERE ZBUREANEKRE
BRE REREBRBENGTAASETEENML - AR
FEAZEERZIHERE URRERRESIRE
RHAE - Bt EE0EERENE S EEE KRS
BEREMEERNANERREEL -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWEFNMEEREENEE

e  We tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing
profile of trade receivables by checking to relevant
supporting evidence;

o HEBREMBNOEER UWHESTXAIRAE
2 FE MR IR B i 70 AT O ERENE

e  We assessed the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss methodology adopted by management
and the reasonableness of the use of forward-looking
information by management in determining the
expected credit loss allowance; and

o EMFAMEEERANEMEEBETEZNEZ T
UL EREEFERBEEBREBRERANELE
HamEmn: &

e  We considered whether the judgements made in
selecting the methods, significant assumptions and data
would give rise to indicators of possible management
bias.

o RMEBEEETZE BEABRREBESIEHOH
HEteSRAEFaEEERENDTR -

Based upon the above procedures performed, we considered
that management’s judgements and assumptions applied in
respect of the impairment of contract assets, trade and bills
receivables were supportable by the evidence obtained and
procedures performed.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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T IRMEERRFEREER - M
B 8 o 2 2 N BB 5 B L PTG RO R AT
BEAM  RREELBERATELEY &

SETRELE -

o HERAVBHMRNEBIIRSA  HEBM
NE BEEE UARGEAMBHREREST
BRBRRZZMEIE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ting Wai Kin Ambrose.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement

are W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 20214
BT AR¥T T AREF T

Revenue & 5 134,155 165,942
Cost of sales HER AR 6 (137,966) (126,748)
Gross (loss)/profit E0@E) A (3,811) 39,194
Other income Eab g A 7 5,369 1,944
Other gains/(losses), net Hib iz, (E18) F8a 8 4,175 (3,689)
Selling and distribution expenses HE KD HAX 6 (1,663) (2,416)
Administrative expenses TR X 6 (14,388) (10,333)
Net impairment losses on financial assets & @& & K& & Q& ERE

and contract assets Eia 5 6 (782) (1,974)
Operating (loss)/profit = (ER) RR (11,100) 22,726
Finance income BE U A 10 2,338 1,477
Finance costs Bl & R A 10 (11) (123)
Finance income, net BB W AF 2,327 1,354
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETSBIAT (B8) %R (8,773) 24,080
Income tax expense FriS i = 11 (164) (2,898)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable A2 R FEEAEEER

to owners of the Company (E58) B R (8,937) 21,182
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable ZARQATEEAELER

to owners of the Company (B8) &R
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EXREE(ARED) 12 (0.71) 1.70

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

b AR A Weas 2K 8 SRS Y B B 5 — GBI o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

/\\/T\ = EF_\E”& ,;L'%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 5 20214

AR¥TT ARET T

(Loss)/profit for the year ER(EE), B (8,937) 21,182
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hih2mEkE A (E8) -
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss HErpeEX 7 HE By IH H
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBHIE K ZHE

foreign operations 129 (19)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for KATEEARGEANZE

the year attributable to owners of (B8 WmEE

the Company (8,808) 21,163

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income 4R & 2 U 25 5% e ERRE B A B 2 — GBI RE o
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI R

As at 31 December 2022 722022412 A31H

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 F 20214
P 5T AR®T T ARBTT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Properties, plant and equipment W - BERERE 14 142,567 147,476
Right-of-use asset EAEEE 14 2,555 2,640
Investment property "EME 15 281 308
Intangible assets mILEE 16 743 1,236
Prepayments TEf IR 18 25 7,807
146,171 ]5797,476777
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 19 7,955 9,737
Contract assets BREE 20 6,198 8,320
Trade and bills receivables B 5 FEUGRIE & B = 4% 20 6,137 18,774
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE  Ze Rk
other receivables H fth FE UL SR IE 18 572 1,623
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 21 187,910 182,294
_________ 208,772 220,748
Total assets BEELE 354,943 380,215
Equity L 55
Equity attributable to owners of AAREEABGEER
the Company
Share capital N 22 10,511 10,511
Reserves ff# 8 315,387 324,195
Total equity ERBE 325,898 334,706
EEERBRLAE — T - —FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
eI E

As at 31 December 2022 742022412 A31H

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 20214
=S AR®T AREF T
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Other payables o e 5RE 23 1,425 1,478
Deferred tax liabilities RIER IS & 24 549 535
1,974 7”””””27,7071737
Current liabilities REBERE
Trade payables B A 25 10,096 20,221
Other payables and accruals Hh B R IE K B AT RUR 23 11,657 17,242
Contract liabilities SERAE 23 365 588
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTE B E 4,953 5,445
__________ 27,071 4349
Total liabilities aEeE 29,045 45,509
Total equity and liabilities BEaRkaEERE 354,943 380,215

The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 176 were FI103ER 176 ENGRAUBREEDEESTZ RN
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and were 202343 A30 BHUETIE WA TALTRARE -
signed on its behalf.

Tsoi Wing Sing Lin Mingiang
BRE ME®E
Director Director
EE EE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be 3l 47 & B 75 A 0 5% e ER RS B A B 7% — GBI RS o
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—u— N/

%ﬂ'\m

= 24 @J %

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRR AL
Share Share Other  Statutory  Exchange  Retained Total
capital  premium reserves reserve reserve  earnings equity
RA&  ROEE HtRE  EERE  ERRE  RERA ERER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT AREBTR ARETT ARETR ARETE
(Note a)
(Mizta)
Balance at 1 January 2022 R202E181AfEE 10,511 80,081 104,466 19,022 (17) 120,643 334,706
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (8,937) (8,937)
Other comprehensive income 2 EWE - - - - 129 - 129
Total comprehensive loss tEbREE 00000 - - - - - 129  (8937) (8808
Balance at 31 December 2022 R202F12A31 BHES 10,511 80,081 104,466 19,022 112 111,706 325,898
Balance at 1 January 2021 R20215 181 BES - - 104,466 16,620 2 101,863 222,951
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 21,182 21,182
Other comprehensive loss HEt2EESR - - - - (19) - (19
Total comprehensive income 2EKEAE - - - - (19) 21,182 21,163
Transactions with owners BEBANR S
Capitalisation issue (Note 22) BR BT (H3E22) 7,883 (7,883) - - - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares FRRIETERR (13 22)
of the Company (Note 22) 2,628 102,486 - - - - 105,114
Share issuance costs R EITRA - (14,522) - - - - (14,522)
Appropriation (Note b) ER (D) - - - 2,402 - (2,402) -
Total transactions with owners ~ BEFANRZER o5 o081 - - 2400 - 4 90,592
Balance at 31 December 2021 R2021512 A31 AL 10,51 80,081 104,466 19,022 (17 120,643 334,706

* The balance was rounded to the nearest thousand.

RO BEEREA TR -

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BABREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

Notes:

(a

(b)

read i

Other reserves represent the combined share capital and capital
reserve of the companies comprising the Group, after elimination of
inter-company transactions and balances as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 in relation to the reorganisation.

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in the PRC
to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be appropriated
from the profit after income tax (after offsetting accumulated losses
from prior years) as reported in their respective statutory financial
statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory
reserves are created for specific purposes. A PRC company is required
to appropriate an amount of 10% of statutory profits after income tax
to statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of its post-tax profits
of the current year. A company may discontinue the contribution
when the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve is more than
50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves shall only
be used to make up losses of the company, to expand the company’s
operations, or to increase the capital of the company. In addition, a
company may make further contribution to the discretional surplus
reserve using its post-tax profits in accordance with resolutions of
shareholders.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be

n conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,\\/T\/\fﬁi //mi%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 F 20214
P 5T AR®T T ARBTT

Cash flows from operating activities E&FZEHRERE
Cash generated from operations KEMBIRE 27(a) 14,536 30,488
Income tax paid [RENEZECY (642) (7,449)
Interest received 2 U FE 2,338 1,477
Net cash generated from operating KR ETISIRE FE

activites ‘!_6:%?_2 77777777777 72747,:571767
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHRERE
Purchase of properties, plant and BEWME  WE MEE

equipment (10,626) (35,231)
Proceeds from disposal of properties, HEWME  BEKEENFT

plant and equipment 1FRIA 27(b) - 828
Purchase of intangible assets BERVEE = (1,069)
Net cash used in investing activities KEEBFTAA S HEE ~(10,626) (35,472)
Cash flows from financing activities BMETBRERE
Repayments of bank borrowings BEPBITER 27(c) - (13,000)
Gross proceeds from issuance of ordinary 7 _E MR BT BRAFTE

shares upon listing RIAMBEE - 105,114
Interest paid BARFLE (11) (128)
Payment of IPO listing expenses BRAFBEE EWRZAR - (8,193)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEH (A FERE

financing activities R . 83,793
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR & N I8 & S E YL T8 5,595 72,837
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FNHReLASEEY

of the year 182,294 109,483
Currency translation differences BB E =R 21 (26)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRBERREFED

of the year 21 187,910 182,294

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Lt
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/\\/T\

B HmRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31 HILFE

1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Deyun Holding Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 4 January 2019 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law Cap.
22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised of the Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is
71 Fort Street, P.O. Box 500, George Town, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1106, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is
principally engaged in (i) manufacturing of lace and provision
of dyeing services; and (ii) sales of shoes.

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Glorious
Way Investments Limited (“Glorious Way"”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"”). The ultimate
controlling shareholder is Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing”) on
13 January 2021.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
unit of Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (“RMB’000"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires the
directors of the Group to exercise judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements,
are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following amended
standards for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2022:

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, HKFRS  Annual Improvements to
16 and HKAS 41 HKFRSs 2018-2020
(Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond

2021
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
(Amendments) Common Control

Combinations

2 FESHBEREBE@

2.1 RBEXE ()

RETEBEMBREERNERA M
BARFBEEMRE THREAAEF - TF
BAREEFHEEAAEESTERERDN
BIZR R HIE - 05 RS H B B R
RERSNEEXRRRGEEER
BHREBEANBECRMTIRE -

(a) K EE B RAHY2E R £ 2T &

AEBOR2022F1 A1 BRBNERE
A E R ER AT TR

EBMIBRE EB WS 2R
ZERIZE 155 2018 F £ 20204
BBV R E B 4F B

RSB

BBV RE

#EBIZ 1658

REBEET

RIS 4158

CCHEN)

BB ®RE B AE 2R My
RIS 35

CCHEN)

BRG] ME - BERSE-
165k (BEIA) BEREAMN

G50
BB G ER BRUEAN-BITEH

FITHUERIA) KA
EEMBHREEL R2021FE2
F1658 (1BFTA)  Covid-19fEHS

BB
StHEIF 55 HREEH T
CHEN) AptEFEE

EEEZERERAT — S - _—FFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards, interpretation
and accounting guideline issued but not yet

adopted by the Group

The following new and amended standards,
interpretation and accounting guideline have
been published that are not mandatory for 31
December 2022 reporting periods and have not
been early adopted by the Group.

2 FESHBEREBE@

2.1 RBEXE ()

(b) B 1Efi{E K55 B 5] K FRAN B9 F AT R
AIEETER) - HEREE5/

LT ABBMAER2022412 A31
A 2 R4 BRI oK 38 ) A AR AT
MAEEETAR] - 2R 5T
A SE @ IR EIR AR A -

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after

RTSI ARz RBR%A

WETHEEN

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

(Amendments)

BEEGRENE 1V RRERYBREE

% = PEACTHES)
HKAS 8 (Amendments)
BEGFTERESH (IBFTA)
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

BAEHERIE 125 (BRI X)
HKFRS 17
BREMBREEANE 7R
HKFRS 17 (Amendments)

BEAMBRERAFE 17 (ERTAX)

HKFRS 17
BREMBREERE 7%
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BEEGEAE 15 (BFTA)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)
EREGETEAE 15 (BFTA)
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

BEAMBRERAFE 165 (BFTA)

HK Interpretation 5 (2020)

EEREBE S5 (20209F)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BEEMBHEEANFE 0T REBGITER

% 285 (1BFTA)
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Disclosure of Accounting Policies
BHHEIBRE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

R AR A

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

HE-QHEFNEEREBRBEERE

Insurance Contracts

RBEH

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BB BIWEERE TR

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
— Comparative information

BAMBREENE VTR REBHBRE
ERE IR B RER - LLERER

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

BERRBIGERBNR

Non-current Liabilities with Covenant

BERHNERDEE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERANNEEEE

Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

BERAHEEREREREIOTRERS
k|

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REEMHEBENASAECECEELE
FEE

1 January 2023
2023F1A1AH

1 January 2023
20231718
1 January 2023

20231 H1H
1 January 2023
2023F1H1H
1 January 2023
2023F1R1H
1 January 2023

20231 H1H
1 January 2024
202451 R1H
1 January 2024
20241 A1 H
1 January 2024
20241418
1 January 2024
202451 H1H

To be determined

FE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards, interpretation
and accounting guideline issued but not yet
adopted by the Group (Continued)

The Group will adopt the above new and
amended standards, interpretation and
accounting guideline as and when they become
effective. The Group has already commenced
an assessment of the impact of these new and
amended standards, interpretation and accounting
guideline, certain of which may be relevant to the
Group’s operations and may give rise to changes
in accounting policies, changes in disclosures
and remeasurements of certain items in the
consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

(@) Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the
noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.

2 FESHBEREBE@

2.1 RBEXE ()

(b) B 1Efi{E K55 B 5] K FRAN B9 F AT R
IEETER - HEBREIE5 ()

RNEEB R Lt Ha] REIETE
B  RERSIESI EMERA -
RNEBE RGBT EZET REE
RIER| REREHIESINEE
HpETHAfLERERMNERE
YA RS R ED HE
BERAREHEBEAMERES
#THEAB -

2.2 B A F
221886

MEARSAREEEZEENE
B(ERERER) EXAKEE
BLEZBRBNADMESKAR
SHAEEE  BRENEBREY
ERNENZEZFLEE AKX
SEIERIZER - B AR BES
REBEAKEE BREA AR
I BEHIERILE AR LS

BE o

(@ ZHEAH

AEBRBEBEEZBEBE
BEARR o W P B 1 =] ey 5
ERERAKECEREE
PrEL A ERBEITHRAE
SHRFE -MEBEEREER
EEIARRELMEEE
MEEXBENRFE R
EB A EEN B E
ENRAENEBERIAE
EMFmERNKBEREHOR
FEFE - AKBEREEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1Consolidation (Continued)

(@) Business combination (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value
at the acquisition date; any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS
9”) in profit or loss. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured,
and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Business combination (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries now comprising the
Group have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
Gains or losses on disposal to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company at cost less impairment. Cost
includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The CODM, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors who make strategic decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

2.4.1Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
is presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022

2 FESHBEREBE@

2.2 B A E &)
2228V H#KE

K E R BRI R E B AR BIRAAR
RRREARR - KA BIEEEEN
BRERAE - WERBNRERAEAR
AR E W E MR BASR -

BRBIRNHBARNKRENRE
o WA SRR B A RET KR
SHMOEKELE R E
MM BImER MR EREERBRIR
BRAFEE (BRBE) REA
PR mR M REER - MIAH AR
REEITRERHA

2.3 FERERE

RESBOREVARAETBLERK
HE(EEEBEREE D IRHOANRSE
FA—H TBZ2ERRERANKE
BRFHERENBRE  HOWEER
EHREORRES -

2.4 HhEsE
2.4.10BER 2 5 & #%

AEBSBEBMERRAIINER
BEAREBKEMETIERER
EMER ([hEER D E - K4
T BRRIAR QBN E B A
SEN2IEBEARKEZY -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.4.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transaction. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income statement
on a net basis within “Other gains/(losses), net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
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translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities held at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.4.3Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

e  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

o income and expenses for each income
statement and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

e all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment
in foreign operations are taken to other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the asset will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs, net of their residual value, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings Shorter of estimated
useful lives or remaining
lease terms

Plant and machinery 5to 15 years

Office equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on disposal are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised in “Other gains/(losses), net” in consolidated
income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Properties, plant and equipment

(Continued)

Construction-in-progress (the “CIP") represents
properties and plant under construction and is stated
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition
and capitalised borrowing costs. No provision for
depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended
use. When the assets concerned are available for
use, the cost are transferred to relevant categories of
properties, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as stated above.

2.6 Investment property

Investment property is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation. Investment property, is held
for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
or both, and is not occupied by the Group. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write-off the cost of
investment property over the shorter of its estimated
useful life of 30 years or the related leasing period and
after taking into account of its estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method.

The asset’s residual value and useful life is reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “Other gains/(losses), net” in
consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Intangible assets

Software

Computer software licenses for own use are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software. Computer software is
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment, if any. These costs are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of 5 years.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset'’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

2.9 Financial assets

2.9.1Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as assets to
be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassified debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.2Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments to be measured at amortised
cost.

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured
at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other
income using the effective interest rate method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 FESHBEREBE@
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2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.3Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and reward of
ownership.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statements of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost
are subject to HKFRS 9’s expected credit loss model.
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its assets carried
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. Note 3.1.3 sets out the details on
how the Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For contract assets, trade and bills receivables, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition. The provision matrix
is determined based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the contract assets, trade and
bills receivables with similar credit risk characteristics
and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)

For other receivables, the Group measures the
impairment as either 12-month expected credit losses or
life-time expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of the other receivables has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.

2.12 Trade, bills and other receivables

Trade and bills receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade, bills
and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade, bills and other receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance
for impairment.

2.13 Inventories

The Group’s inventories comprise solely raw materials
which stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash on hand and deposits held at call with
banks with original maturities of three months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.16 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
finance costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

2.18.1 Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.

2.182 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax
is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or
the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

2.182 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
income tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.19 Employee benefits

2.19.1 Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within
twelve months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current employee benefit obligations in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

2.19.2 Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the consolidated statements of financial position
if the entity does not have an unconditional right
to defer settlement for at least twelve months
after the reporting period, regardless of when the
actual settlement is expected to occur.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

2.19.3 Defined contribution plans

The Group pays contributions to state or publicly
or privately managed pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments
is available.

2.194 Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Group’s
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group
recognises a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

2.20 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amount for the goods sold or service rendered in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activity.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where
the period between the transfer of the promised goods
or services to the customers and the payment by the
customers exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for
the time value of money.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
statements of financial position as a contract asset or a
contract liability, depending on the relationship between
the Group’s performance and the customer’s payment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer. Incremental costs incurred
to obtain a contract, if recoverable, are capitalised and
presented as assets and subsequently amortised when
the related revenue is recognised.

A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer
the promised goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been
met for the Group’s activity as described below:

Manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing
services

Revenue from manufacturing of lace and provision of
dyeing services is recognised when the control of the
goods or services is transferred to the customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
services may transfer over time or at a point in time.
Control of the goods or services is transferred over time
if the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the asset.

Revenue recognised over time uses the input method
with reference to the costs incurred for the goods or
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
b E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of shoes

Revenue from trading of casual and sports footwear
is recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customers, the customers have full discretion over
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customers’ acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to
the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss
have been transferred to the customers, and either the
customers have accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have
lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all
criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

As receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage
of time is required before the payment is due.

2.21 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

2.22 Leases

The Group leases land for the manufacturing of lace
and provision of dyeing services. The consideration paid
for the lease is treated as a right-of-use asset, which
is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Lease land is
amortised over the remaining lease term using straight-
line method.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and the
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index
or arate;

° amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined,
or the entity’s incremental borrowing rate.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of less than 12 months.
Low-value assets comprise assets with value below
RMB5,000.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the periods in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

2.24 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised in the consolidated income
statement within “Other income” on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
recognised.

2.25 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk). The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1 Market risk

3.1.1Foreign exchange risk

The majority of assets and liabilities are
denominated in RMB, United States dollar (“USD")
and Hong Kong dollar (“HKD") and there are no
significant assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign
exchange rate risk arising from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
which are denominated in a currency other than
RMB, which is the functional currency of the major
operating companies within the Group. The Group
currently does not hedge its foreign currency
exposure.

The Group’s foreign currency transactions are
mainly denominated in USD. At 31 December
2022, if USD had weakened/strengthened by
5% against the RMB with all other variables held
constant, loss before income tax for the year
then ended would have been approximately
RMB600,000 higher/lower (2021: profit before
income tax would have been approximately
RMB566,000 lower/higher), mainly as a result of
the foreign exchange difference on the translation
of USD denominated prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, other payables and accruals,
trade and bills receivables and cash and cash
equivalents.

At 31 December 2022, if HKD had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB with
all other variables held constant, loss before
income tax for the year then ended would have
been approximately RMB1,990,000 higher/
lower (2021: profit before income tax would
have been approximately RMB1,452,000 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of the foreign exchange
difference on the translation of HKD denominated
trade and bills receivables, prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade payables,
other payables and accruals and cash and cash
equivalents.

MR EE

AEBEXBAZ SR KRER - miHRER (2
EONER R KA EER) FEERR KR
Bk AEBNEBEREESEH
FOTemmSn AR EANE TS KEER
BEHAEEPHERENEEINZE -

3.1 AR
3. 1.15ME R B

ABAEEREBBEAARE ET
(IEx) RET(BTDEE X
BREMBAREERABUEMES
HE - AREmBERRREERS
AR HEBAARBE AN ZEE (B
AEBRATREERTZYEEE)
FHENEERAEMELNINEE
R\ o AN 5 B 3 B X 0 H AP
KR o

AEEZIINEZ S EBAET
B M2022F12 A31 8 =T
HARBEE FAES%mMATEE
A EAXREBETE  HEHFHEA
HA1H S M BR BT 1S B AT ES 18 538 hn
SO #9 A R 600,000 7T (2021
FBRABHADEFIR A 184
AR¥566,000T) FEEBRE
ETTFHEMNEMNIE - B RE
fib FE UK FR I8 - E Ath B BB BT
RIE - B S REUGRE R EREE N
FBESRREEEBY I INEZE -

R2022F 128318 - MBTTHE A
RUEEEFHES% MATH E A
BPRARRBFILAE  BEBHEBHL
F M TS BT 18 4535 0, SR
D #) AR ¥ 1,990,000 7T (2021 £ -
BRATER AR FIR L SEINHOAR
#1,452,00070) * FEEBLELE
TETENE SN RIBE R ERSE
B ENARIE - e REAmERE
1B B5EMNFIE - HMtENKIEA
MEFRERRESRESEEYZ
HNGE ZEFE o

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf



134
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Market risk (Continued)

3.1.2 Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk is mainly attributable
to its cash at banks with floating interest rates.
Details of the Group’s cash at banks have been
disclosed in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other than cash at banks, the Group does not
have significant interest-bearing assets or liabilities.

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rates on
cash at banks had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all variables held constant, loss before
income tax for the year then ended would have
been approximately RMB 1,879,000 lower/higher
(2021: profit before income tax would have been
approximately RMB1,823,000 higher/lower),
mainly as a result of higher/lower of interest
income on the cash at banks.

3.1.3 Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
cash at banks, contract assets, trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables. The
carrying amounts of each financial asset represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

Risk management

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
credit terms are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history and the Group performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents
is limited because deposits are in banks with
sound credit ratings and management does not
expect any loss from non-performance by these
counterparties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BKERERE®
(Continued)

3.1 Market risk (continued) 3.1 miZREKE &)

3.1.3 Credit risk (Continued) 3.1.315ERE ()
Risk management (Continued) EREFE (&)

(@ Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial asset
that is subject to the expected credit loss
models:

o Contract assets, trade and bills
receivables

. Other financial assets carried at
amortised cost

Contract assets, trade and bills receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
contract assets, trade and bills receivables. The
Group measures the expected credit losses on a
combination of both individual and collective basis.

To measure the expected credit losses, contract
assets, trade and bills receivables have grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The contract assets relate to
unbilled services and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the expected loss rates for trade
receivables are a reasonable approximation of the
loss rates for the contract assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Market risk (Continued)

3.1.3 Credit risk (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual
basis

Contract assets, trade and bills receivables with
known insolvencies are assessed individually for
impairment allowances and are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
As at 31 December 2022, the balance of loss
allowance in respect of these individually assessed
receivables was approximately RMB2,841,000
(2021: RMB2,169,000).

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
basis

Expected credit losses are also estimated by
grouping the remaining receivables based on
shared credit risk characteristics and collectively
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the nature of the customer and its ageing
category, and applying the expected credit loss
rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of
the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates are estimated on
the basis of historical credit losses experienced,
adjusted to reflect the effects of existing market
conditions as well as forward looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBERRBEE@®
(Continued)
3.1 Market risk (Continued) 3.1 mMiZREK &)
3.1.3 Credit risk (Continued) 313158 mE (8)
Measurement of expected credit loss on collective HAHEFEHEEEE ()

basis (Continued)

The provision for loss allowances for contract 2022912 A31H K% 20214 12
assets, trade and bills receivables as at 31 AMBAREHNEE EHEKK
December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are BREREBEAROEBBEEERT
determined as follows: REE:
1-3 months  Over 3 months Total
1Z3f8A 3@ALE ast
31 December 2022 2022%12A31AH
Expected loss rate BHBEX 0.6% 11.2% 3.7%
Gross carrying amount FREE
— contract assets, trade and bills —EHEE  BHRKFER
receivables (RMB'000) EREE(ARETT) 11,110 4,650 15,760
Provision for loss allowance (RMB'000)  sHREBE & (ARBTT) 64 520 584
31 December 2021 2021F12A31A8
Expected loss rate BHERE 0.4% 7.8% 1.6%
Gross carrying amount EEZE
~ contract assets, trade and bills —BHEE BHRKFER
receivables (RMB'000) EREE(ARETT) 25,007 4,730 29,737
Provision for loss allowance (RMB'000) iR BEE (ARETT) 103 37 474
Impairment losses on contract assets, trade and AWEE - BHRUGRIEREKRE
bills receivables are presented as “net impairment BREBEDNRGERGERANU &
losses on financial assets and contract assets” BEERGHNEERBEREFE]
in the consolidated income statement. When a I BR o & FEUCGRIE SE IR E B - B
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against B GRIE AR Y - g Uk El
the allowance account for receivables. Subsequent BEMEE KB IKEMARER -

recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Market risk (Continued)

3.1.3 Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group’s other financial assets carried at
amortised cost include deposits and other
receivables in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The impairment loss of other
financial assets carried at amortised cost is
measured based on the 12-month expected credit
loss. The 12-month expected credit loss is the
portion of lifetime expected credit loss that results
from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime expected
credit loss.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, management
considered the credit risk of deposits and other
receivables to be low as counterparties have a
strong capacity to meet their contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term. The Group
has assessed that the expected credit losses for
these other receivables were immaterial under
12-month expected losses method. Therefore, the
loss allowance provision for these balances was
immaterial and no provision was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Market risk (continued)
3.14 Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the shorter and longer
term.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held cash
and cash equivalents amounting to approximately
RMB187,910,000 (2021: RMB182,294,000), that
are expected to be readily available to generate
cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of
sources including orderly realisation of receivables
that the Group considers appropriate and
adequate amount of available financing including
short-term borrowings are also considered by the
Group in its capital structuring. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient
bank balances, committed credit lines available
and interest bearing borrowings which enable the
Group to continue its business for the foreseeable
future.

The table below analyses the non-derivative
financial liabilities of the Group into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the statement of financial position date to the
contractual maturity date.

3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BKERERE®

(Continued)

3.1 Market risk (Continued)

3.14 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts disclosed in the table were the
contractual undiscounted cash flows and the

3.1 iz E kR (%)

3145 B &L R ()

RABRBENEBRR/ANARMREAS
MEBRARERRERIANRESR

earliest date the Group can be required to pay. HEf -
Less than More than
1year 1year Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
SPME BE1E @it
ARETT ARETFT ARBTTL
At 31 December 2022 R2022512A31H
Trade payables B HENFE 10,096 - 10,096
Other payables and accruals (excluding — E b fE 5B R JEET SR (P B
accrued employee benefits, deposits ~ [EzHE S & F - B FWE
received from customers and other SREMENSTR)
tax payables) 6,335 2,530 8,865
16,431 2,530 18,961
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31H
Trade payables B HENTIA 20,221 - 20,221
Other payables and accruals (excluding — E b fE B RFEET TR (T B
accrued employee benefits, deposits ~ [EEHESEF - B F WA
received from customers and other SREMENTR)
tax payables) 12,386 2,606 14,992
32,607 2,606 35,213
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Fair value estimation

The Group did not have any financial assets or financial
liabilities at the consolidated statement of financial
position which is measured at fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets,
including trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents; and the
Group’s financial liabilities including trade payables,
other payables and accruals, approximate their fair
values due to their short maturities.

The nominal values less any estimated credit adjustments
for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less
than one year are assumed to approximate their fair
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest
rate that is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

4.1 Impairment of receivables and contract
assets

The Group makes provision for impairment of
receivables and contract assets based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s historical default rates, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. The identification
of impairment of receivables and contract assets
requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where
the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the carrying
value of receivables and contract assets and loss for
the impairment of receivables and contract assets
recognised in the periods in which such estimates have
been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company is an investment holding company and the
Group is principally engaged in

(i)  manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing services;
and

(i) sales of shoes.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the
directors of the Company. The directors review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The directors have determined the operating
segment based on these reports.

In previous years, the directors consider the Group’s operation
from a business perspective and determine that the Group
has two reportable operating segments being manufacturing
of lace and provision of dyeing services. In 2021, a new
subsidiary was incorporated in Hong Kong which is principally
engaged in sales of shoes. Therefore, the Board currently
considers the Group’s operation from a business perspective
and determines that the Group has three reportable
operating segments being:

(i) Manufacturing of lace — principally engaged in
manufacturing of lace based on customers’ orders for
lingerie and other products;

(i) Provision of dyeing services — principally engaged in
provision of dyeing services of lace and swimwear
fabrics based on customers’ orders; and

(iii)  Sales of shoes — principally engaged in trading of causal
and sports footwear.

The directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of revenue and gross profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 W&k o5IER @)

(Continued)
(a) Segment revenue by operating (a) REE D EBEI D B 2 ZB U 2=
segments
The segment information provided to the directors MEZEEMEENEZ2022F %2021 F
for the reportable segments for the years ended 31 RANBIEFENRAIZH D H 9
December 2022 and 2021 is as follows: BRI
Provision of dyeing
Manufacturing of lace services Sales of shoes Total
RETE RUFBERY HEHE L
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
02F 2021 202%F 2021 202%F 2021 202F 20214
ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETT
Segment revenue bl 26,762 56,161 56,108 94,244 51,285 15537 134,155 165,942
Segment results PEEE 111 18572 (8223) 18995 4,301 1627 (3811) 39,19

Other segmental information:  Z A7 & H :
Depreciation of properties,  #)%  BER A&

plant and equipment g 7391 7,425 9,194 8,023 - - 16585 15448
Additions to non-current EEHADEED
segment assets m 335 2,477 9,544 24,295 - - 9,879 26,772
(b) Disaggregation of revenue from (b) EFEHWREDIF
contracts with customers
The Group derived revenue from the sales of goods at REEMRERAREESESEHEES
a point in time and provision of services over time as m R EERERERS - 1T
follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 F 20214

ARBT ARETT

Timing of revenue recognition U 25 T R R ]
Over time — provision of services BE B ] — 1R AR 7 82,870 150,405
At a point in time — sales of goods REERHESE - HEER 51,285 15,537

134,155 165,942
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c) Segment revenue by customers’
geographical location

The Group’s revenue by geographical location, which is
determined by the location of customers, is as follows:

5 WHERDHER @)

(c) REFHEBNESE SHD B

W =

AEBZRWENE (EREFPUEEE)

EoedEmT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 20214
AR¥F T ARBETF T
The PRC F 81,972 148,577
Hong Kong aBE 51,379 16,232
Others EAh 804 1,133
134,155 165,942

(d) Information about major customers d) FEEFER

Revenue derived from customers individually
contributing over 10% of the Group’s total revenue

HE2022F K2021F12 A1 HILFE
BRI BB BB AR EE AU 10% LA £

during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is EP2WENT
as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
2022 20214
AR¥T T AREF T
Customer A ZEA 51,285 N/A A3 A *
*  The corresponding customer did not contribute over 10% o HE2021F12A3MBILEEE  EER

of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PHAEEBKGRNERTHEE10% -

EEZERERAT

e p——

=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5 WHERDHER @)

(Continued)
(e) Details of contract liabilities (e) EHNEBHE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 20214
AR¥ET T ARBETF T
Contract liabilities (Note 23) aHaE (HiE23) 365 588
Notes: B A -

)

(9)

(i) Contract liabilities represent advanced payments
received from the customers for services that have not
yet been transferred to the customers. The contract
liabilities fluctuated during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 due to fluctuation in sales orders with
advanced payments.

(i)~ During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, all
brought-forward contract liabilities at the beginning of
the financial years were fully recognised as revenue.

Unsatisfied performance obligations

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all performance
obligations not yet satisfied by the Group were from
contracts with original expected duration of less than
one year. Therefore, as permitted by the relevant
practical expedient under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied performance obligations
was not disclosed.

Non-current assets by geographical
location

All of the Group’s non-current assets were located in
the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

6 EXPENSES BY NATURE 6 BRMEEIHITHBX

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution FTASHERAN  HERDHAS  1THAX
expenses, administrative expenses and net impairment ReBEERGHNEEREBEBFENAX

losses on financial assets and contract assets are analysed as DT -

follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 20214

ARBT T ARETT

Raw materials and merchandise used JRIA R R 7 an B 7 (M52 19)

(Note 19) 72,543 58,270
Employee benefit expenses, including EERIFAX (BRBEEME)

directors’ emoluments (Note 9) (FfF3%9) 32,403 37,056
Manpower service expenses (Note 9) ANERRG RS (M3E9) 1,548 1,841
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) &/ & E# s (15 16) 493 451
Utilities KEE 9,394 9,806
Depreciation of properties, plant and mE BERSEREREEE

equipment and right-of-use asset (Note 14)  #7T& (fizE14) 17,395 16,086
Depreciation of investment property (Note 15) # &£ 47 & (Ff5E15) 27 33
Provision for impairment of inventories FERERE (H3T19)

(Note 19) 3,065 -
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 2B % BM 1,702 1,843
Professional fees BEXEH 4,153 2,761
Other tax and surcharges HuhFi18 KM N 926 1,439
Packaging expenses 2353 874 1,722
Commission and handling charges MeEkFESE 2,888 921
Waste handling charges BEYREE 2,980 4,001
Net impairment losses on financial CRMEEREGNEEREERE

assets and contract assets FFE 782 1,974
Others Hith 3,626 3,267

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution HEKA - HERDHEMASE - 17
expenses, administrative expenses and net  BHSYXNEBMEENRANEE
impairment losses on financial assets and REEIEF AR
contract assets 154,799 141,471
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

7 OTHER INCOME 7 HtWA
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 20214
ARET AREF T
Government grants (Note) IR B (M 5E) 4,970 1,800
Rental income (Note 15) MU A (FF7E15) - 17
Others Hh 399 127
5,369 1,944
Note: Government grants are all income related and there exists no Mk - BUSMBI 2 PRI AAERE - B AT & 55
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these ZEBIT B ARIER G S L sk SRR IH -
government grants.
8 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 8 Htthz (&8 FE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
2022 20214
ARET ARMEF T
Losses on disposal of properties, HEME  BERRENERE
plant and equipment ) (3.174)
Exchange differences I H Z5 4,177 (515)
4,175 (3,689)
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND 9 EERABMXIRANERRE
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES, X (BREEHL)
INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 20214
ARET ARMEF T
Wages and salaries ITEKF® 30,105 34,234
Pension costs — defined contribution plans ~ ERE A AR — 5 5E 7T 2 (I
(Note a) ita) 2,197 2,719
Other staff welfares HiE TR 101 103
Total employee benefit expenses (including 1B 8@ FIF X %8 (R IEEEH
directors’ remunerations) %) 32,403 37,056
Manpower service expenses (Note b) ANERRBFHEZ (HEb) 1,548 1,841
33,951 38,897
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Notes:
(@) Pension costs — defined contribution plans
The PRC

As stipulated under the relevant rules and regulations in
the PRC, the subsidiary operating in the PRC contributes
to state-sponsored retirement plans for its employees. For
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, depending
on the provinces of the employees’ registered residences
and their current region of work, the subsidiary contributed
certain percentages of the salaries of its employees and had
no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or
postretirement benefits beyond the contributions. The state-
sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

Hong Kong

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Pension
Scheme”) set up pursuant to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
income statement as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the Pension Scheme. The assets of the Pension
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administrated fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
to the Pension Scheme, except for the Group's employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group
when the employee leaves employment prior to vesting fully in
the contributions, in accordance with the rules of the Pension
Scheme. The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid.

In 2022, total employees’ contributions were RMB54,000 (2021:
RMB7,000) and total contribution from the Company were
RMB57,000 (2021: RMB12,000). No contributions forfeited
by employees leaving the scheme were utilised to offset
contributions during the year (2021: nil). As at 31 December
2022, there were no forfeited contributions (2021: nil) available
to reduce the contributions payable in future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

()

Manpower service expenses

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group entered into certain manpower service arrangements
with an external manpower service organisation in the PRC.
Under these arrangements, certain of the Group’s manpower
requirements were fulfilled by this organisation at agreed
service fees whereas the human resources provided were
directly employed by the service organisation. The individuals
providing services to the Group did not have any employment
relationship with the Group.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group include one director for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: nil), whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented in Note 32. The emoluments payable to the
remaining four individuals for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: five) are as follows:

BEERARIRANDERRE
X (BIEEEMS) @)

BsE - ()

(b)

()

ANERIREF X

HZE2022F R2021F12A31BIEFE - K&
EEE-KPEIIFANERRBEER L
ETANBRBRBLH BREE@ELTY %
BBZHERBEERRES T AEBETAF
R CMARHMOANERBZRBEER
BFHEF - MASBEIRHRBOATEAEE
WA R BRAR o

hEEsHMAL

HZE2022%12A31BLLEE  A5ERE
BEaFMAT R EE—2ES (20214
w@)  HM e RMAEMERZ27 M9 -
HZE2022F12A31BLEFE  ENHTHE
% Q021F : Af) ATHMET -

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

2022 F 20214

ARBT T AREFT

Wages and salaries ITERF® 1,718 673
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3R E R A — R E KT E) 54 84
1,772 757
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES,

INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

() Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following band:

BIeE - (48)
(0 hEEREHFMALE

HagmEmT -

9 EERARAIRANERRKE
R (BREEMNE) @)

Number of individuals

A
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Emolument band MEsE
Not more than HKD 1,000,000 %7 1,000,000 7T 4 5

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or

HE2022F K2021FE12 831 B IEEE - K
EEBEATNEESXNAZESHMALTE
WAL NS Ve A BB s e MBS AR R ARG Y 28

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. B IEARERAE -
10 FINANCE INCOME, NET 10 ME WA FE
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
2022 5 20214
AR®T T ARBET T
Finance income AEWA
Interest income e 2338 1,477
Finance costs il B A
Unwinding of discount on other payables E b B A FRIE A HT IR (o] (11) (10)
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITIERFERX = (118)
Less: capitalised on qualifying assets (Note) ~ J& @ & B IR B EE AL (ME) - 5
. (123)
Finance income, net mEWAFE 2,327 1,354
Note: Borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates of 4.35% per MizE: HZE2021F12 831 BLEFE @ SBITERF

annum on qualifying assets for the year ended 31 December

2021.

BRAYDREEEAREERMETIL X
) 4.35% M FF| L& AL -

EEEZERERAT — S - _—FFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
-

A TS ERARNME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Taxation has been provided at the appropriate rates prevailing
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, Fujian
Deyun Technology Co., Ltd* (B2 ZERIEBRE Q)
(“Deyun Technology”), the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC,
has qualified for high and new technology enterprises status
and is therefore subject to a preferential income tax rate of
15%.

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates by
the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong from the year
of assessment 2018/19 onwards, the first HKD2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, Hope
Faith Limited, the Group’s subsidiary in Hong Kong, was a
qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HKD2 million of profits will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

11 FrEBiRx

BOBE A R BN AL R 2 S
BisEEHR o

HE2022F R2021F12A31BLFE - K
SEEFENNBAREEEZERBARA
AI([EERE]) AERERR IS
i AHZEEEMEHEISY -

BEEEREBDEENNEHMAARSG - B
018/19 R FER  AEREEEENE
200878 704 F #5342 8.25% B R #R L » M 200
EE T L8 ER 12 16.5% B KR ©

HE2022F R2021F12A31B LFE - K
FENBENBRABIEGHERABAEER
FRAESHMAGMNERE 520088 Tk
) 12 8.25% Tt R ER B - 111200 & B L LA £
B34 ) #6422 16.5% Tt R R i

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 F 20214
AR¥T T AREBETF T

Current income tax BVERFTIS B
- PRC Corporate income tax — Bl FTIEH - 2,618
- Hong Kong profits tax —BENEH 150 91
150 2,709
Deferred income tax (Note 24) EIEFTS TR (M52 24) 14 189
Income tax expense FRiS %t 2 164 2,898
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
-

A TS ERARNME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

11

12

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11 FEHiE < @)

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’'000

2022 F 20214

AR®T T ARBETFTT

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATSBIAT (B518) & F (8,773) 24,080
Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to ZEMWB AR (BB) /& F

(losses)/profits of the respective subsidiaries @R K E T8 (1,399) 3,431

Tax effect of: INTEEMBBEEE

Income not subject to tax HARBHWA (1.265) -

Expenses not deductible for tax purpose EE k5 1,853 1,009

Tax loss not recognised (Note (a)) KRR IE B 18 (Y3 (a)) 2,242 -

Super deductions from research and o 35 5 SR BR HE A0 (95 (b))

development expenditure (Note (b)) (1,267) (1,542)

Income tax expense FRiS iR 164 2,898

Notes: PIRE -

(@) Asat 31 December 2022, the Group did not recognise deferred (@) M2022F12A31H AEEITEFHFHIEE
income tax assets of approximately RMB2,242,000 in respect of B AR 14,948,000 THERIELE R B E E
tax losses amounting to approximately RMB14,948,000, which AR 2,242,0007T - WAB AT SEER
is subject to the agreement by the relevant tax authority and B AUAESEEARKA REEBER
could be carried forward to offset future income. The tax losses RERERM °
will expire within five years.

(b)  According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated (b)y WREBEFEBERBEEBEMOEREE A
by the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC, enterprises B REMBE TN EREREETHFE
engaging in research and development activities are entitled FERBE R TN - ¥ P EE AE BB B 5 2 89 200%
to claim 200% of their research and development expenses BRREAMNHRAS -
incurred as tax deductible expenses when determining their
assessable profits for that year.

(LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 B8R (ER) &7

The basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing BRERN (BB BIEAAREE AENG

the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company by the (BB s R A 220224 2021412

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during A31BIEFEME 3T B INETHEG

the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. Ho
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to RAREAAEGER (BB,
owners of the Company (RMB’000) wH (AR FIT) (8,937) 21,182
Weighted average number of ordinary shares T %77 & 38 f% 19 Hn#E 7 159 81
in issue (thousands of shares) (F) 1,260,000 1,249,644
Basic and diluted (losses)/earnings per share &YX EAN K #58 (E518) /& F|
(RMB cents) (AR®S) 0.71) 1.70

There were no differences between the basic and diluted HREE2022F R2021F 12 A31BILEE

(losses)/earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive WEBITEINBEHETEBR  NERE

ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 31 AR (F518) BRATEEZR -

December 2022 and 2021.

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

13 SUBSIDIARIES

13

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 and
2021 are set out below.

B8 2 A

AREBER2022FK2021F12A31BNTE
M8 AmEFIT -

Place of incorporation and Principal activities and Particulars of Percentage of effective interest
Name of subsidiary kind of legal entity place of operation paid up capital held/controlled by the Group
WEARERE AMAUBEREAEREDN IEEBREEHE BRBAHE ARERE/BHNEREZEAL
2022 2021
002F 20015
Direct Interests:
ERER:
Deyun Investment Limited BVI, limited liability company Investment holding in BVI UsD1 100% 100%
Deyun Investment Limited RERTHE BRAF FRBRAHERERR (E3p
Circle Time Limited BVI, limited liability company Investment holding in BVI UsD1 100% 100%
Circle Time Limited SERAEE  BRAA ERBAREERALER Y
Indirect Interests:
BiEs
Deyun Holding (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability Investment holding in Hong Kong HKD1 100% 100%
company
Deyun Holding (HK) Limited &7 BRA A EEBREER 18T
Fujian Deyun Consulting The PRC, limited liability company  Investment holding in the PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Services Co. Ltd.*
RREELARBERLR B FRAF EREREER AR 10,000,0007C
Fujian Deyun Technology The PRC, limited liability company Manufacturing of lace and RMB98,670,000 100% 100%
Company Limited* provision of dyeing services
in the PRC
RREEEMERNERAR  +E FRAT ERERRETERREEAE  ARYK98670,0007
R
Hope Faith Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Sales of shoes in Hong Kong HKD1 100% 100%
company
AHERRA B BRAH EERHELR BT
Putian Yingchuang Trading The PRC, limited liability company Wholesale of textile and clothing RMBO 100% -
Company Limited*
ERREBHERAR RE - BRAA nERRRELE AREOT

*  For identification purposes only

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 YK -BERRERERE

AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET BE
Plant and Office Motor ~ Construction Right-of-use
Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles i progress  Sub-total asset Total
RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMBOOD  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
BT HEREE  HORE e REIE Nt EREEE &t
ARETT  ARETT ARETRT ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R01E1A18
Cost A 41,093 264,444 4251 1,090 82N 319,149 4121 323,270
Accumulated depreciation ZimE (12341)  (156,401) (2.952) (804) - (172499 (1399 (173897)
Net book amount BEFE 28752 108,043 1,99 286 8271 146,651 21 149373
Year ended 31 December ~ HZ201E 1283101
2021 EE
Opening net ook amount BNEEE 2875 108,043 1,299 286 821 146,651 272 149373
Additions hE 1382 13,89 248 1832 3473 20831 - 20831
Transfers gz - 11,744 - - (11,744) - - -
Depreciation (Note 6) W& (Wte) 14 (1349 (386) (61) - (16,004) (82 (16,086)
Disposals ik - (4.002) - - - (4,002 - (4,002)
Closing net book amount BREDEE 28,030 116,228 1,161 2,057 - 147,476 2640 150,116
At 31 December 2021 R2021£128318
Cost A 42,475 279,053 449 2922 - 328,949 412 333,070
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (14445 (162,829) (3339 (865) - (181483) (1481)  (182,954)
Net book amount FEFE 28,030 116,228 1,161 2,057 - 147476 2,640 150,116
Yearended 31 December ~ HZ202F 1283101
202 £E
Opening net hook amount BNREFE 28,030 116,228 1,161 2,057 - 147,476 2,640 150,116
Additions HE 303 9,308 355 1,136 1,301 12,403 - 12,403
Depreciation (Note 6) mE(liie) (2,382) (14,234) (459) (235) - (17,310) (85) (17,395)
Disposals it & - - @ - - ] = ()
Closing net book amount BREEIE 25,951 111,302 1,055 2,958 1301 142,567 2,555 145,122
At 31 December 2022 R2025128318
Cost A 02,7718 288,361 4,815 4,058 1,301 341,313 412 345,434
Accumulated depreciation Zitne (16,827) (177,059) (3,760) (1,100) - (198,746) (1,566) (200,312)
Net book amount REEE 25,951 111,302 1,055 2,958 1301 142,567 2555 145122
EEERERATE — - —FFf
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MFRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
depreciation expenses have been charged in cost of sales,
selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses

14 ¥ BERIERFERE
BE @)

B E2022F R2021F12A31BIEEE - #
ERYCEHEERDN HERDHEAST RT
BAZMBRAT

as below:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
2022 20214
AR¥F T ARET T
Cost of sales $H & A AR 16,585 15,448
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX 7 7
Administrative expenses THAX 803 631
17,395 16,086

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15 R EWHE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
2022 20214

AR¥TT AREBTT

At 1 January m1A1TH
Depreciation (Note 6) e (fizE6)
At 31 December ®12HA31H

The Group leased out an investment property through
operating lease. The lease typically runs for an initial period of
5 years. The lease does not include variable lease payments.

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair values of
the Group's investment property were approximately
RMB1,270,000 and RMB 1,270,000 respectively. These fair
values are determined by the directors of the Company mainly
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer, using the income capitalisation
approach.

The following amounts have been recognised in the
consolidated income statement:

15 REWME )

R2022F K2021F12 8318 AEEKE
Wz A FEDRIK A AR 1,270,000 7T &
AR 1,270,0007C c ZERAFEARFE
EXELEFIAERTEMEBMERARA
EREFEETHBERERE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 20214

ARBT ARETT

Rental income from investment property &M ER L WA (F:E7)

(Note 7)

Direct operating expenses attributable to  EAMRSWANREMERENE

investment property that generates BRERY
rental income

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
amortisation of approximately RMB114,000 and RMB96,000
has been charged in administrative expenses and
approximately RMB379,000 and RMB355,000 has been
charged in cost of sales respectively.

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 BEEE
Software
gL
RMB’000
AREFTT

At 1 January 2021 R2021F1818
Cost B AR 1,472
Accumulated amortisation RETHEE (827)
Net book amount R FE 645
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021512A31BLLEE
Opening net book amount BRI FE 645
Additions NE 1,042
Amortisation (Note 6) By (fsEe) (451)
Closing net book amount HIRAREVEE 1,236
At 31 December 2021 M2021%12831H
Cost PR 7R 2,514
Accumulated amortisation ZETHEE (1,278)
Net book amount BREFEE 1,236
Year ended 31 December 2022 EZE2022F12A31BLLEE
Opening net book amount ERYIRRE F{E 1,236
Amortisation (Note 6) #i5 (fste) (493)
Closing net book amount HRREFE 743
At 31 December 2022 72022%12H31H
Cost B AR 2,514
Accumulated amortisation REt# iy (1,771)
Net book amount BRmFE 743

HZE2022F R2021F12A31HILEFE - 5
B # A R 114,000 7T & A R #96,0007T 2
BEE BT BAE IR - mMAARY 379,000
JT R AR # 355,000 702 B $HE K AR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

17 RERETHWEMTR

CATEGORY
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 2021 4F
AR® T AREF T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost B AR 2 A E
Trade and bills receivables (Note 20) E S W RE & E R EE (M5 20) 6,137 18,774
Deposits and other receivables B e Rk H At BN IR 37 1,011
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) BeMESEEY (ME21) 187,910 182,294
194,084 202,079
Financial liabilities =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost B AR 2B E
Trade payables (Note 25) E ST 5xE (M sE25) 10,096 20,221
Other payables and accruals H At A SR IE K B AT RUR 7,748 13,853
17,844 34,074
18 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18 FATFRIE - IRE R HMEIRR
RECEIVABLES i)
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 6 20214
ARET ARBET T
Current portion BN HA R
Prepayments to suppliers TE A 4 FE P RRIR 225 370
Other prepayments Hth 3814 5108 310 242
Other receivables H e U kIR 2 1,011
Deposits Ze 35 -
572 1,623
Non-current portion JERNHAER &
Prepayments of acquisition of properties, — UXEE¥ % - BB KR ENTE K E
plant and equipment 25 7,807

EEEZERERAT — S - _—FFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

18

19

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of deposits
and other receivables approximated their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables were denominated in the following currencies:

18 ERRIE RERHMEKRR
I8 (4#%)

R2022F 2021412 A31 8 » 2% R H it eIk
ERRAESEEAFERS -

AEEMBENRIR - RE R AU IE R BRE E A
TOEEEHE -

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 20214
ARET AREFIT
RMB AR 305 9,259
HKD BT 212 171
usb ES 80 -
597 9,430

INVENTORIES 19 78
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 20214
ARET T ARBFIT
Raw materials B 11,020 9,737
Less: Provision for impairment of inventories B FERERE (3,065) -
7,955 9,737

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in cost of sales during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 amounted to approximately RMB72,543,000 and
RMB58,270,000 respectively.

Provision for impairment of inventories amounting to
approximately RMB3,065,000 was recognised in the
consolidation income statement and included in cost of sales
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022

HZE2022F K2021F 12831 ILFE -
SR B B ARET2,543,0007T B AR
58,270,000 T M7 B K A TR B Wt A
SHEMAN

HE2022F12A831BILEFE - HWARK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

20 CONTRACT ASSETS, TRADE AND BILLS

20 ENEE EBEZEBRRER

RECEIVABLES

PR R &

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’'000

2022 F 20214

AR®T ARBTT

Contract assets BRHEE 6,226 8,348

Less: Provision for impairment of contract  J& : & %14 & B (E B 5

assets (28) (28)

Contract assets, net EHEESE 6198 8320

Trade receivables g 5 WA 9,374 21,289

Bills receivables R E R 160 100
Less: Provision for impairment of trade B B RERBGIRRERE

receivables (3,397) (2,615)

Trade and bills receivables, net BEoREFIEREREEFE 6,137 18,774

12,335 27,094

Contract assets represent the Group’s rights to consideration
for work completed but unbilled for its business. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional which generally take one to three
months. The balances of contract assets fluctuated from year-
to-year during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
as the Group provided varying amount of goods or services
that were unbilled before the year-ends.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of
contract assets, trade and bills receivables approximated their
fair values.

The Group’s sales were generally on credit terms primarily
from 30 to 60 days.

EHEEEASEREEBETKNERAR
EMFRB BRI BT o &EFRK A E
BHEE(—RES—ZE=[AR)  AHWEESE
BEBHERWFIE BHRASEERFERZA
FIiR It EMEMRBHARAESE TR - R
HE2022FK2021F12A31BIEFEEHA
HEEEBRIRTFE) -

MR2022F R20214E12 318 8 & &
BoRNFEREREENEREEE AT
EEHE -

AEEFEENEEN —REENF30E60H °

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

20 CONTRACT ASSETS, TRADE AND BILLS

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of

contract assets are as follows:

20 ENEE EBEZEBRRER

EWEE #)

AEBANEERERENZESHIT

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’'000

2022 F 20214

AR®T ARBTT

As at 1 January m1A1TH 28 8
Provision for impairment on a collective R EEFHRO R ERE

basis - 20

As at 31 December ®12A31H 28 28

Movements on the Group’s provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

AEENE S RYGREREREZBFBN

™

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

2022 20214

AR%T T AREF T

As at 1 January ®m1A1H 2,615 661
Provision for impairment on an individual 1% 1@ 5I| E X 5+ 42 &R B £ 5

basis 702 1,617
Provision for impairment on a collective 3% F£[RI & 5T 80 Al (B B 1

basis 110 354

Reversal of provision for impairment AR ER (30) (17)

As at 31 December M12A31H 3,397 2,615
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MFRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

20 CONTRACT ASSETS, TRADE AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of
trade and bills receivables, based on invoice date, was as

20 ENEE EBEZEBRRER

EWEE #)

R2022F R2021 512 A31 0 - E S ER K
EREWEEREZAHNEEITOT

follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 2021 4F
AR¥T ARET T
1 to 3 months 1Z231@A 4,884 16,659
Over 3 months 31EA M E 4,650 4,730
9,534 21,389
Less: Provision for impairment of trade B 5 EYGRIE R E R
receivables (3.397) (2,615)
6,137 18,774

The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract assets, trade
and bills receivables were denominated in the following

AEBANEE BEZRUFARERER
MAREER T EEEHE

currencies:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 & 20214
ARET T ARETIT
RMB AR 11,750 26,806
usD ESI 585 288
12,335 27,094

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 was the carrying value of the receivables and
contract assets mentioned above. The Group did not hold any
collateral as security.

R2022F K201 F 12 A3 BN SZSEEE
B A b SRl FEW B R A ) EEMEREIE »
A E A S A TR R e AR o

EEERERAT — S - —FFH 163
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21 RERBESEEY

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’'000

2022 F 20214

AR% T ARBEF T

Cash on hand FHERE 10 9

Cash at banks HR17E 187,900 182,285

Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEYD 187,910 182,294

Maximum exposure to credit risk FEEREHAEHA 187,900 182,285

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the RekBeSEMREERERERME R
purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows: EATIER -

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’'000

2022 F 20214

AR% T AREF T

Cash and cash equivalents RERBEFEY 187,910 182,294

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents were denominated in the following currencies:

AEERS B EEYOEEENTHE
Wt -

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

2022 F 20214

ARET AREFT

RMB AR 129,972 124,973
usD ETT 13,028 10,484
HKD BT 44,910 46,837
187,910 182,294

Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rate. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximated
their fair values.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, cash and cash
equivalents of the Group amounting to approximately
RMB184,374,000 and RMB180,455,000, respectively, were
deposited with the banks in the PRC where the remittance of
funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government of
the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

22 SHARE CAPITAL 22 |RA
Number of Nominal Nominal
shares value value
BB EE H{E H{E
HKD'000 RMB’'000
FHET AREF T
Share capital B
Authorised: EE
As at 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1H 38,000,000 380 337
Increase in authorised EINETE @A (HiEa)
ordinary share (Note a) 9,962,000,000 99,620 83,840
As at 31 December 2021, 722021512 H318 -
1 January 2022 and 2022F1R1HE
31 December 2022 202212 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000 84,177
Number of Nominal Nominal
shares value value
RO E HE H{E
HKD'000 RMB’'000
FET ARETIT
Issued: BT
As at 1 January 2021 R2021%1 818 20,000 —* -
Capitalisation issue (Note b) & ZA&A{L21T (Mf:Eb) 944,980,000 9,450 7,883
Issuance of shares upon P MR ITAR G (H5E o)
listing (Note ¢) 315,000,000 3,150 2,628
As at 31 December 2021, 20219 12A831H -
1 January 2022 and 202F1A1TER
31 December 2022 202212 A31H 1,260,000,000 12,600 10,511

* The amount was rounded to the nearest thousand.

L RBRHNEEREETMN -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

22

23

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@ On 13 January 2021, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased to HKD100,000,000 comprising

10,000,000,000 shares of HKD0.01 each.

(b)  Pursuant to the written resolution passed by the shareholders
on 16 December 2020, a total of 944,980,000 shares of
HKDO.01 each were allotted and issued to the shareholders of
the Company whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company as at 31 December 2021 on a pro rata basis
by way of capitalisation of HKD9,449,800 (approximately
RMB7,953,000) from the Company’s share premium account
on the Listing Date. The capitalisation issue was completed on

13 January 2021.

(€0 On 13 January 2021, pursuant to the listing on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Company
issued a total of 315,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of
HKDO.4 per share for a total gross proceeds (before related

share issuance costs) of HKD126,000,000.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES, OTHER

22 R (%)

R2021F1 8138 ARREERAE SR
100,000,000 7T * £2#% 10,000,000,000 % &
RETE(E0.01 B TR RS -

BIEAL PR 2020512 B 16 B@BHE MR
EE CBBRBARARRMEERF 9,449,800
T (X AR 7,953,000 70) BERER - ER
+HEHAER2021E12 831 BEZY AR A
B A AR RIARER - HR bk (I BD B R B AT
4 3£944,980,000 f% & BE A 1E0.01 78 T A iR
9o BARIEITER2021E1 S 13HEK °

H2021F 15138 - RERBEEB AR ZMT
BRABIERET  NARINUFR0LE T
H) (B £ 317 A $£315,000,000 f% 3@ % - &
FESBE (RHNBREBRGEHITRARN) B
126,000,000% 7T °

BHEE HUBENRKERE

PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS sTRE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 F 20214
AR% T AREBETF T
Current portion BERE o
Payables for acquisition of properties, BEME  RERZENEMNTIE
plant and equipment 3,716 9,648
Other tax payables Hpth FE R I8 2,350 972
Other payables HoAth & 5 RIE 627 622
Accruals for auditor’s remuneration JE 5 A% S A 7 B 1,592 1,494
Accruals for employee benefit expenses JEEHE B & AR 1,654 2,632
Accruals for professional fees JEFTEXER 282 457
Other accruals H fth 5T FRIE 106 154
Deposits received from customers ARFPWEmAIZ S 1,330 1,263
Contract liabilities (Note 5(e)) a8 E (FFEse) 365 588
12,022 17,830
Non-current portion FEENEA I D
Other payables HoAth &~ R IE 1,425 1,478

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s other payables and accruals approximated their

fair values.

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MFRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

23 EHEE HMENSRERE
s FIE ()

The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract liabilities, other
payables and accruals were denominated in the following

AEBANERE  HibENFARERA
MAREER T EEEHE

currencies:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 & 20214
AR¥F T ARBETF T
RMB AR 10,622 16,947
usD ES 659 376
HKD HEIT 2,166 1,985
13,447 19,308

24 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 24 EiEFEES

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 & 20214
AR¥F T ARBETF T
Deferred tax liabilities BEFRIBAE 549 535

The movement in deferred tax liabilities during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax
jurisdiction, is as follows:

FEEFRBEEEREE2022F 2021912 A
BB LEFEMNES CREF R HEMER RS
ARSI

Accelerated

Contracts tax

Deferred tax liabilities EEHEBEEE assets depreciation Others Total

BREE MEHBHE Hity Mt

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFTT ARETT AREFRT AREFR

At 1 January 2021 B2021F1A1H (48) (236) (62) (346)
Charged to the consolidated RERE W m T MR

income statement 44 (188) (45) (189)

At 31 December 2021 M2021F 12 A31H (4) (424) (107) (535)
Charged to the consolidated RErE R NR

income statement (3) (3 (8) (14)

At 31 December 2022 72022912 A31H 7) (427) (115) (549)

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

24 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for the tax loss
carried-forwards to extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profit is probable.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of approximately RMB2,242,000
in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately
RMB 14,948,000, which is subject to the agreement by the
relevant tax authority and could be carried forward to offset
future taxable income. The tax losses will expire within five
year.

The Group had undistributed earnings of RMB130,736,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB143,067,000), which, if
paid out as dividends, would be subject to tax in the hands of
the recipient. An assessable temporary difference exists, but
no deferred liability has been recognised as the parent entity
is able to control the timing of distributions of dividends from
the PRC subsidiary and is not expected to distribute these
profits in the foreseeable future.

25 TRADE PAYABLES

24 EREFIBERE @)

BEREMAEEERRNABEGE  —TE
JE £ 7T RE 3R B R 2R B AR s K B IR AR R AR 1R
& F o

R2022F 128318 AEB W ER R IEBEE
18 #4714,948,000 THERIELEMERHEELDA
R#2,242,0007T - HEBRATBEERE -
BrIgEREEERA - HEBEBENAESF
A ENE

R2022F12A31H - AEBBHARDKEF
B AR#130,736,0007C (2021F : AR
143,067,0007T) * fAYE AR BR AT - R A
BENTLTE o AR A R BE N EH| B E
BARDRKEMEE BAERREITSE
DR E - TR IR R AR B
RELEEE -

25 BEZENRE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’'000

2022 F 20214

AR®T ARBTT

Trade payables B 5N FIE 10,096 20,221

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of
trade payables, based on invoice date, was as follows:

R2022F R2021 128318 - B S ER
ERBRZAHNERE O

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

2022 F 20214

AR¥FT T ARET T

1 to 3 months 1Z231@A 6,279 17,728
Over 3 months 31E A E 3,817 2,493
10,096 20,221

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s trade payables were denominated in RMB and
approximated their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MFRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

26 DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before

26 RE

NGB REE2022F K2021F12 318 1E
FEVERMNHE RS -

27 ZRERERERME

(a) BRFTSBLAT (B1E) aFI B

income tax to cash generated from EELENRSYE
operations
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 F 20214
AR% T ARBEF T
(Loss)/profit before income tax BrATSEIRT (BB) R (8,773) 24,080
Adjustments for: AT S EELFE
Interest income FEHBA (2,338) (1,477)
Interest expenses FERX 11 123
Depreciation of properties, plant M RERZETE
and equipment 17,310 16,004
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEERE 85 82
Depreciation of investment property REMENE 27 33
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERE 493 451
Losses on disposal of properties, HEWE  WERRENEER
plant and equipment 2 3,174
Provision for impairment of trade BORUHIBERGHNEE
receivables and contract assets DEREREAH 812 1,991
Reversal of provision for impairment Z 5 EWCIE R E R H R
of trade receivables (30) (17)
Provision for impairment of inventories 77 & R B & & 3,065 -
10,664 44,444
Changes in working capital: HEESE
— Trade and bills receivables — 8 SEWGIE K EWEE 11,788 (7,540)
— Contract assets —GHEE 2,122 (764)
— Prepayments, deposits and other —TENRIE - Ze &
receivables H U FRIE 1,033 2,073
— Inventories -GFE (1,283) (465)
— Trade payables —E S EMHIE (10,097) 9,410
— Other payables and accruals — E fib JE S 5008 & B ET SRIA 532 (13,818)
— Contract liabilities —GHaE (223) (2,852)
Cash generated from operations MEELXNIES 14,536 30,488

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf

169



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 27 FERERERMT @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) In the consolidated statements of (b) RGEBREREXRD  HEY
cash flows, proceeds from disposal ¥ BRERRENMBREE
of properties, plant and equipment &
comprise:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 £ 20214

AR¥TT ARBTT

Net book amount disposed HEMEREFE 2 4,002
Losses on disposal of properties, HEWE - WERZEHR
plant and equipment 518 ) (3,174)
Proceeds from disposal of properties, HEWE  WEREZELN
plant and equipment FriS 7R - 828
(c) The reconciliations of liabilities arising (c) MERTBHEENEEYHIRNT :
from financing activities are as follows:
Bank
borrowings Total
RITER et
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBFT AREF T
As at 1 January 2021 7202141818 13,000 13,000
Cash flows Remne
— Repayments of bank —(EBIERITER
borrowings (13,000) (13,000)

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 2021 F 12 A31B K
December 2022 202212 A31H - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MFRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

28 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 28 HAREE
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have R2022F K2021F 12 A31H - AEB T &
any material contingent liabilities. EMEAKAEE -
29 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29 BAEIE
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the years but RERBITNEREENEARFAZAT
not yet incurred is as follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 20214
AR®T ARBTT
Contracted but not provided for SEEENOEREL 395 185
30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 BB AR S

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions.

Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control or joint control.

Members of key management and their close family members
are also considered as related parties.

(a) Parent entity

The ultimate holding company and controlling
shareholder are disclosed in Note 1.

MR—TEENERIERENS 77 X
HHR TP BHEERREMEAZES
AR SRR T

RN 77 LB A E RIS 425 - TRRAR
e -

s

BRERE METRIME SRR -

2

() BLER

RASTERR N A R PR AR R AT R 1 4R R

EEEZERERAT — S - _—FFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 B A RS @)

(Continued)

(b) Transaction with related party

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the following transactions was
carried out with related party during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021, at terms mutually agreed by
both parties:

(i) Office rental expenses paid to a related
company

(b) EHEEBL X5

BGAP SRR E M AIREEIN
HE2022F K2021F 12 A31 B ILF
€ BRAINEH LR E O IEER
BEHETATRS

() ZHF—BEBAGYRAZEHE

53

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 F 20214

AR¥TT ARET T

World Mart Limited (Notes (i) and (ii)) World Mart Limited
(P () R (i)

Notes:

(i) World Mart Limited is a related company, which
is held by a sibling of one of the directors of the
Company.

(i) The above transaction was charged based on terms
mutually agreed with the related party and in the
ordinary course of business.

(c) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors and a senior
management who have the responsibility for the
planning, directing, controlling and the execution of
the activities of the Group. The compensation paid or
payable to key management is shown below:

86 -

()  World Mart Limited & B4 & X 7]
HARARER—BREFEHNLHNE
RFFEH ©

(i) E#izx 5 ThiR ik SR 5 £ F
TEMERLE—WEZKBREFRU
o

() TEEEEHMN

T2EEEREAERE  HR 2
RPTAKREEBNESRSRELE -
ENRENE2ERENFMIIRNAT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 20214

ARBT ARETT

Wages and salaries IERF®

Pension costs — defined contribution plan  RIKE ik A — FE R ET &

Deyun Holding Ltd Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MFRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company as at 31

31 XAFHHEMRRRRK

REZH

ANRAFA2022412 A 31 BB AR R

December 2022
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022 F 20214
BT ARET AREEFTT
Assets EE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NN 0F 5 186,371 186,371
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments NS 257 171
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE LB B R RIFIE 91,946 88,400
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEED - 1,366
__________ 92,203 89937
Total assets EE#E 278,574 276,308
Equity e
Equity attributable to owners EREEE ABLER
of the Company
Share capital N 10,512 10,512
Share premium AR (7 5 (8 80,081 80,081
Reserves i (a) 186,373 186,373
Accumulated losses 2T EBE (a) (25,875) (28,249)
Total equity E=mgs 251,091 248,717
Liabilities a8&
Current liabilities i p=R i
Accruals JERT IR 1,873 1,981
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTH B A B FRIE 25,610 25,610
Total liabilities a&eE 27,483 27,591
Total equity and liabilities ERREEAR 278,574 276,308

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and
was signed on its behalf.

AARFERAREEEET SN 202343
A30BR#LETIE  WHRIATALTRERZE -

Tsoi Wing Sing Lin Mingiang
BHEE MER
Director Director

BE BF

EEEZERERAT — T - —FFf
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(a) Reserves movement of the Company

31 RAANMBERRER
REE2E @

(a) XARHEEE

Share Capital Exchange Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserves losses reserves
BHRE EBEXFEE ERGFE RITEBEB R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFTT ARETT ARET:
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1818 - 186,371 2 (22,423) 163,950
Loss for the year FAEE - - - (5,826) (5,826)
Total comprehensive loss PHEEEE e - (5826 (5,826)
Transactions with owners EREEAX S
Capitalisation issue BAET (7,883) - - - (7,883)
Issuance of ordinary shares of  #77ALN B LB
the Company 102,486 - - - 102,486
Share issuance costs R BITRA (14,522) - - - (14,522)
Total transactions with REBARZHEE
owners 80,081 - - - 80,081
At31December2021and R2021F 128318 K
1 January 2022 2022%181H 80,081 186,371 2 (28,249) 238,205
Profit for the year FRa - - - 2,374 2,374
Total comprehensive income 2 Y & 4258 . S 23714 2314
At 31 December 2022 M2022%512A31H 80,081 186,371 2 (25,875) 240,579

Note: The capital reserve of the Company represents the
aggregated net asset values of the subsidiaries acquired
by the Company pursuant to the Reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE SRR E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B £ 2022F 12 A31 A L FE

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each director is set out below:

32 EEREMNRER

() EEM<
BEENHHETIMT
Employer’s

Allowances  contribution
Discretionary ~ benefitsin ~ to pension

Name of Director Fees Salary bonus kind scheme Total
EEE EIHEAS
EEpR he §¢ miEfa BYER  HENER @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®Tn AR®TR AR%Tn AR¥Tn AR%¥Txn
For the year ended BZ2025125318
31 December 2022 LEE
Executive directors: WIS
- Jian XueGen (Note i) ~BER () 13 163 - - 3 179
~ Larry Stuart Torchin (Note i) ~Larry Stuart Torchin (Fff
i) 26 - - - - 26
~Tsoi Wing Sing (Note i)~ —2248 & (Fif) 26 - - - - 26
-Lin Bingzhong (Note i)~ —#A 3R (Fif3Eii) = 72 = - 11 83
- Lin Mingiang -HER - 97 - - - 97
- Lin Chaowei (Note i) —MEE (M) - n - - 1 83
-Lin Chaowen (Notei) ~ —#REAC (MtiEii) = 72 - - 11 83
~Wei Cunzhuo (Noteii) — —E872 49 (FiH3Eii) - 72 - - - 7
- Lin Lili (Note il —HREIR (M5 i) - 45 - - 11 56
Independent non-executive  BIUFRTEE :
directors:
—~Chan Hoi Shan (Note i) —BRiE 1L (F3Ei) 26 = = - - 26
— Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin ~ —#8 B (F5Ei)
(Note ) 26 - - - - 26
— Chow Kit Ting -BKE 17 - - - - 17
- Sheng Zijiu (Note i) - SMGET) 90 = = - - 90
- Yip Koon Shing (Noteii) ~ — 7@K (Mizii) 91 - - - - 91
~Wong Chun Sek Edmund ~ — S & %8 (Fi3tii)
(Note ii) 91 - - - - 91
506 593 - - 47 1,146
For the year ended BZ20215125318
31 December 2021 LEE
Executive directors: WIS
- Lin Bingzhong —HEE - 87 - - - 87
- Lin Mingiang -MR® - 97 - - - 97
- Lin Chaowel — &R - 97 - - 19 116
~Lin Chaowen ED - 97 - - 17 114
~Wei Cunzhuo BN - 97 - - 19 116
—Lin Ll — WA - 60 - = 16 76
_ 535 - - 71 606
Notes: P 5E

(i)  Appointed on 30 September 2022

(i) Resigned on 30 September 2022

() 202249 A30BEZ(T

(i) 202249 A30HET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MFRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 F 12 A31 HILFE

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
independent non-executive directors have received nil
directors’ remuneration in the capacity of directors.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no emoluments, retirement benefits, payments or
benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the
directors; nor are any payable.

Consideration provided to third parties
for making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no consideration was provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-

loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such
directors

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no
loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
controlled entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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32 EEEANRER @)

(a)

(b)

(o)

(d)

(e)

EEME @

HE2021F12A31BIEFE B3
YITEEVEREZFHRMEIMNES
B & o

ESRHRENRLLEF

HE2022F 202112 A31 B I-F
E BMEFHEKLIEERENHE R
KER RSB MESEREREE
A SRIEE I A FRIE o

RERAEEREMEAFE =7
RENRE

HZE2022F %2021 12 A31 8 14
EoEREREEEREMAE=F
REEARE -

FENEE BHEHRESEG
HEEREEGRENERES
ZHmANER EERKHAM
REZNEHR

20225 22021512 A318 - &S
BLES BARESEHEE KA
HERENERBASE ANER  £FH
HREMR S L -

EENRG  THIASHFH
EXER

EANKRESERBEESN  BET
UAAREEAEPEERMERS S
KA T & R ok P A A

BEARBEXBEENEARZS - THR
B -
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